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Air Products Equipment Limited
Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

The slralegic report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Principal activity
The principal activity of the company is the exccution of large turnkey projects related to the sale of cryogenic
and gas processing equipment for air separation to customers worldwide in a variety of different industries.

Business review and results

The company’s strategy is aligned to the wider Air Products group strategy to be the safest, most diverse, and
most profitable industrial gas company in the world. During FY 22, the directors implemented the company’s long-
term growth plans and in keeping with the gioup’s sustainability efforts, continued work on the Neom Green
Hydrogen Company contract for the construction of the world’s largest carbon-free green hydrogen plant at
Oxagon, in Saudi Arabia’s region of Neom. The company earned revenue of $163,325,000 (2021: nil) and gross
profit of $15,075,000 (2021: nil) following the commencement of work on several large-scale projects in 2022,

Additional analysis of the company’s performance is provided under Key Performance Indicators section below.

Key performance indicators

The directors monitor the financial performance of the business based on specific key performance indicators
(KPI's). Operating profit is used as a measure of overall profitability. Following the commencement of work on
several large-scale projects, operating profit for the year was $15,036,000 (2021: nil) and operating profit margin
was 9%, The directors are satisfied that the current performance is in line with expectations. Additional KPI's
have not been presented as the current year is the first year of trading meaning comparative data is not available.
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Air Products Equipment Limited

Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

Section 172 statement

The dircctors are aware of their duty under section 172(1) (a) to () of the Companies Act 2006 to act in a manner
they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the company for the benefit of its
members as a whole and, in doing so, to have regard (amongst other matters) to:

4) the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

The direciers understand the demands of the business and what is needed for the company to be successful and
meet the groups long term strategic goals of becoming the safest, most diverse and most profitable industrial gas
company in the world, providing excellent service to customers. Management meets on a regular basis to review
and discuss important issues affecting business operations and to formulate a long-term plan to enable the
company to be successful in achieving its strategic objectives.

b} the intcrests of the company's employees;

The directors believe that employeces are the company’s most valuable asset and are critical to long-term success.
They continue to develop the company’s 4S culture (Safety, Speed, Simplicity and Sclf-Confidence) to create a
work environment where all employees feel that they belong and matter. Talent related initiatives, including
employee recruitment and development, diversity and inclusion, and compensation and benefit programs, are
focused on building and retaining a talented staff base which is critical to achieving long-term objectives.
Employee safety and wellbeing is a key goal within overall business strategy.

¢) the need to foster the company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;

The directors understand the need to engage in positive and mutually beneficial rclationships with suppliers,
customers, and others in order to operate successfully and deliver on strategic objectives. The company engages
with a wide range of suppliers and customers, from small regional companics to large multinationals, with the aim
of establishing long-term relationships which benefit all parties. Suppliers are viewed as integral members of the
business and management seeks to engage with companies who share the same commitment to ethical business
practices and who can help deliver value. Suppliers are required to abide by and conform to the company’s global
Code of Conduct in business dealings and support sustainability through the principles outlined in Air Products’
expectations of suppliers.

d) the impact of the company's operations on the community and the environment;

The directors are aware of the impact operations have on the environment and local community. The company
supports the communities in which it has a presence. The company is committed to limiting the impact of
operations on the environment through its long-term strategy and is actively involved in develeping new processes
and technelogies to improve long-term sustainability. At Air Products, Science, Technology, Engineering and
Maths {(STEM) subjects arc at the heart of our innovative solutions. Through our STEM outreach programmes,
we strive to inspire the next generation of scientists and engineers.

€) the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct;

The directors view integrity as a core value of the company and expect all business operations to be executed in
an ethical manner. Commitment to this behaviour is reinforced through the company’s code of conduct which
identifies a clear framework and required standards. Employees receive annual trainings to ensure that standards
of business ethics are both met and maintained on an ongoing basis; and

(1) the need to act fairly as between members of the company;
The company is a wholly owred subsidiary of Air Products Public Limited Company.
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Air Products Equipment Limited

Strategic Report for the Year Ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties

Competitive pressures in the global marketplace are a continuing risk for the company. To manage this risk, the
company strives to provide value-added products to its customers and maintain strong relationships with beth
customers and supplicrs. The company’s business is affected by fluctuations in the price of key raw materials and
products, although purchasing policies, contracts and practices seek to mitigate, where practical, such risks.

Future developments

The company is well positioned to continue its focus on growing its core business and adding large turnkey
projects to its portfolio by exploring new opportunities globally. Management remains focused on safety and
delivering value added preducts and services for customers in the future.

Financial risk management

Cush flow risks

The company participates in a group cash pooling arrangement to minimise cash tflow-based risks. In addition,
financial risks related to interest rate and forcign exchange fluctuations are actively managed through the usc of
derivate financial instruments such as forward contracts.

Credit risk

The company's principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables. The company's
credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of
allowances for doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment is made where there is an identified loss event
which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in recoverability of the cash flows, The company
has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposurc spread over a large number of customers operating
in various industries.

Liquidity risk

The cor;lpany finances its operations through cash flow from operating activities. Cash flow is monitored closely
by management to identify liquidily requirements to ensure that sufficient financial headroom exislts at all times.
The entity's cash flow needs arec managed by the Air Products corporate treasury function to ensure sufficient
funds are available when payments become due.

Environmental matters

The company recognises the importance of its environmental responsibilities, monitors its impact on the
environment, and designs and implements policies to mitigate any adverse impact that might be caused by its
activities. Initiatives aimed at minimising the company s impact on the environment include safe disposal of
waste, recycling and reducing energy consumption.

Approved by the Board on 30" November 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

J. Escorihuela
Director

Hersham Place 41-61
Molesey Road
Hersham
Walton-on-Thames
United Kingdom
KT12-4RZ
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Air Products Equipment Limited

Directors' Report for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

The directors present their report for the year ended 30 September 2022,

Proposed dividend
The directors proposed no dividend during the year 2022 or to date of this report (202 1: $nil).

Directors of the company
The directors who held office during the period and to the date of signing were as follows:

I. Escorihuela (appointed 16 February 2022
B. Hussa (appointed 15 December 2021)
M. Schaeffer

D. Leney (resigned 14 February 2022)

C. Stinner (resigned 15 December 2021)

M. Sambroek - Company secretary and director

Going concern

At the time of signing of these financial statements no material uncertainties exist related to events or conditions
that may give rise to significant doubt as to the company's ability to continue in operations for the foresecable
future. The entity is expected to generate positive cash flows from the revenue projects which provides the
directors with reasonable expectation that the company will be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due for at least 12 months trom the date of the approval of the financial statements. Therefore, the use of going
concern basis of accounting is deemed appropriate. The company has also obtained a letter of support from Air
Products and Chemicals Ing, its ultimate parent company, confirming that the parent intends to support the
company for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements, and that the
parent has the financial ability 1o do so.

Financial risk management and future developments
Financial management and future developments are included in the strategic report and form part of this report by
cross reference.

Political donations
The company made no political donations or incurred any political expenditure during the year (2021: nil).

Disclosure of information to the auditor’s

The directors who held oftice at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and each director has
taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director 1o make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies
Act 2006,
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Air Products Equipment Limited

Directors' Report for the Year Ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

Auditor

Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditor and will be proposed for
reappointment at the next Annual General Meeting.

Appraved and sntharised hy the Roard on 20% November 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

'.\.l}": ,’,(, 1.%“'—'

J. Escorihuela
Director
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Air Products Equipment Limited

Statement of Directors’' Responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law}, including FRS 102 “The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland. Under company law the directors
must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.

In preparing these [nancial stalements, the directors are required to:
+  select suitable accounting policies and apply them censistently;
*  make judgements and accounting estimates that arc reasonable and prudent;

» prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company
and cnable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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Air Products Equipment Limited
Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Air Products Equipment Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements of Air Products Equipment Limited (the *company’):

* give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 30 Septembcer 2022 and ol 11s profit for the
year then ended,;

+ have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice,
including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic
of Ireland and

* have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,
We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

* Profit and loss account

* Statement of Comprehensive Income

*» Balance sheet

¢ Statement of changes in equity

* The related notes 1 to 14

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable
in the UK and Republic of Ireland™ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s") Ethical Standard,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate,

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively. may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our respensibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.
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Air Products Equipment Limited

Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Air Products Equipment Limited
{continued)

Other information

The other information comprises the information inctuded in the annual report, other than the financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the
annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other intormation and, except to the
cutent otherwise vaplivitly stuled in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our respensibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identity such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to material misstatement in the financial
statements themselves. I, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required te report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary 1o enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit cenducted in accordance
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggrepate, they could reasonably be expected to
intluence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website
at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilitics. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
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Air Products Equipment Limited

Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Air Products Equipment Limited
(continued)

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, 10 detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities,
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is
detaited helow,

We considered the nature of the company’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the company’s
dacumentation of their policies and procedures 1elating (o fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We
also enquired of management and the directors about their own identification and assessment of the risks of
irregularities, including those that are specific to the company’s business sector.

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the company operates in, and identified
the key laws and regulations that:

* had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. These
included UK Companies Act,tax legislation; and

» do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the
company’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty.

We discussed among the audit engagement team including relevant internal specialists such as tax,specialists
regarding the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where
fraud might occur in the financial statements.

As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas, and our
procedures performed to address it are described below;

* Manual adjustments to revenue: we have used journal entry detail to identify manual entries to revenue and
ensured the appropriateness of each entry selected; we reconciled the transaction system subledger of revenue to
that of the general fedger, ensuring ali manual entries are included in the population are subject to testing.

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the
risk of management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we tested
the appropriateness of journal entrics and other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in making
accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any significant
transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:

* reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with
provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

= performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of
material misstatement due to (raud:

= enquiring of management concerning actual and potential litigation and claims, and instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations; and

+ reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing correspondence with HMRC.
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Air Products Equipment Limited

Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Air Products Equipment Limited
(continued)

Report on legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matiers prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

» the informartion given in the strategic report and the directors” report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

« the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors” report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

+ the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
+ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specificd by law are not made; or
» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to rcport in respect of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

DocuSigned by:
Ches Wadearan
b EOESABRSTANBAAG (e i avncnanns
Chris Wademan FCA {Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP, Statutory Auditor
Newecastle upon Tyne
United Kingdom

Date: 30 November 2023
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Air Products Equipment Limited

Profit and Loss Account for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

2022 2021

Note $ 000 $ 000
Turnover 3 164,710 -
Cost of sales ) (148,250) -
Gross profit 16,460 -
Administrative expenses 39 -
Operating profit 4 16,421 -
Other interest reccivable and similar income 5 3168 -
Imerest payable and similar expenses & (139) -
Profit before tax 16,650 -
Taxation 9 _{3.164) -
Profit for the financial period 13,486 R

The above results were derived from continuing operations.

The notes on pages 16 1o 23 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Air Products Equipment Limited

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

Profit for the vear
Unrealised loss on hedging instruments
Deferred tax on hedging instruments

Total comprehensive expense for the year

2022
$ 000

13,486
(90,082)

22,521

(54,075

2021
$ 000

The notes on pages 16 1o 23 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Air Products Equipment Limited

(Registration number: 12992685)
Balance Sheet as at 30 September 2022

2022 2021
Note $ 000 $ 000
Current assets
Stocks 10 129,726 31,782
Debiors 11 214,206 -
Deferred Tax asset {incl. $22,521,000 due after more than one
year) 11 22,521
Cash at bank and in hand 3.570 200
370,023 34,982
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 12 _ (385.,842) ) {34,782)
Net current (liabilities)/assets (15.819) 200
Total asscts less current liabilities (15,819 200
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 12 _ (38.056) .
Net (liabilities)/assets (53,875) 200
Capital and reserves
Share premium reserve 200 200
Cash flow hedge reserve (67,561) -
Profit and loss account 13,486 -
Total equity {53.875) 200

Approved and authorised by the Board on 30% November 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

J. Escorihuela
Director

The notes on pages 16 to 23 form an integral part of these financial statements,
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Air Products Equipment Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

Cash flow hedge  Profit and loss

Share premium reserve account Total
3000 5 000 $ 000 $ 000

At 3 November 2020 B - _ - o -
New share capital subscribed 200 _ - - 200
At 30 September 2021 200 - - 200

Cash flow hedge Profit and loss

Share premium reserve account Total
3 %000 $ $
At 1 October 2021 200 _ . 200
Profit for the period - - 13,486 13,486
Other comprehensive income - - (67,561) - - (67,561)
Total comprehensive expense - (67,561) 13.486 {54,075
At 30 September 2022 200 (67,561) 13,486 (53,875)

The notes on pages 16 to 23 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Air Products Equipment Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

1 General information

The company is a private company limited by shares, incorporated in United Kingdom and registered in England
and Wales under the Companics Act 2006.

The address of its registered office is:

Hersham Place 41-61
Molescy Road
Hersham
Walton-on-Thames
United Kingdom
KTi2 4RZ

2 Accounting policies

Statement of compliance
These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 'The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of lreland' issued by the Financial Reporting Council.

Basis of preparation
These financial statements arc prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the recognition of certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair vaiue.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the company’s
accounting policies.

The functional and presentation currency of these financial statements is United States dollar as this is the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. All amounts in the financial statements have
been rounded to the nearest $'000s.

Summary of significant accounting policies and key accounting estimates
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

The notes on pages 16 to 23 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Air Preducts Equipment Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, the directors are required
to make judgements. estimates and assumptions abuul the carrying amounts ul assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
arc recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical accounting policies and judgements
Accounting for contracts using the percentage-of-completion method requires judgement relative to assessing
risks and their impact on the contract revenues and costs,

Key sources of estimation uncertaingy

Accounting for contracts requires estimates to be made in relation to factors such as the potential for incentives
or penalties on performance, schedule and technical issues, labour productivity, the complexity of work
performed, the cost and availability of materials, and performance of subcontractors.

Summary of disclosure exemptions

Air Products Equipment Limited is a qualifying entity under FRS 102 on the basis of being included in the
consolidated financial statements of Air Products and Chemicals Inc, which are availabie to the public from the
company's registered office (see note 14),

The-company has, therefore, taken the below exemptions under FRS 102:.
» from preparing a statement of cash flows under FRS 102 paragraph 1.12(b);

= from disclosing certain financial instrument disclosures, on the basis that the equivalent disclosures are included
in the consolidated financial statements of Air Products and Chemicals Inc, the ultimate parent company; in
accordance with FRS 102paragraphs 1.12 (¢)

* from disclosing total compensation of key management personnel under FRS 102 para 33.7A;

s from disclosing transactions with wholly owned members of Air Products and Chemicals Inc in accordance with
FRS 10233.1(a)

Going concern

Al the time of signing of these financial statements no material uncertainties exist related to events or conditions
that may give rise to significant doubt as to the company's ability to continue in operations for the foresecable
future. The entity is expeeted to generate positive cash flows from the revenue projects which provides the
directors with reasonable expectation that the company will be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due for at least 12 months from the date of the approval of the financial statements. Therefore, the use of going
concern basis of accounting is deemed appropriate. The company has also obtained a letter of support from Air
Products and Chemicals Inc, its ultimate parent company, confirming that the parent intends to support the
company for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements, and that the
parent has the financial ability to do so.

The notes on pages 16 to 23 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Air Products Equipment Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

2 Accounting policics (continued)

Revenue recognition
Turnover comprises the fair value of consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and provision of
services in the ordinary course of the company s activitics. Turnover 1s shown net of sales/value added tax, returns,
rebates and discounts.

The company recognises revenue when:

a) the amount of revenue can be reliably measured;

b) it is probable that future economic benefits will flow 1o the entity; and

<) the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,

Interest Receivable

Interest receivable and similar income includes interest receivable on intercompany loans, interest on bank
deposits and gains on financial derivatives, Interest receivable is recognised in profit and loss account as itaccrues
using the effective interest method.

Long-term contracts

The amount of profit attributable to the stage of complction of a long term-contract is recognised when the
outcome of the contract can be foreseen with reasonable certainty. Turnover for such contracts is stated at cost
appropriate to their stage of completion plus attributable profits, less amounts recognised in previous years.
Provision is made for any losses as soon as they are foreseen.

Contract work in progress is stated at costs incurred, less that transferred to the profit and loss account, after
deducting foreseeable losses and payments on account not matched with turnover.

Amounts recoverable, within one year, on contracts are included in stocks and represent turnover recognised in
excess of payments on account.

Amounts recoverable, over a vear, on contracts are included in trade debtors and represent project revenue in
excess of billing.

Interest costs incurred during the construction period on long-term contracts are included in work-in-progress.

Tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except that
a change attributable to an item of income or expense recognised as other comprehensive income is also
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date in the countries where the company operates and generates taxable
incomc.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences between taxable profits and profits reported in the
financial statements.

Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are recognised when it is prebable that they will be recovered
against the reversal of deferred tax liabilitics or other future taxable profits.

Deferred tax is measured using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date and that are expected 10 apply to the reversai of the timing difference.

The notes on pages 16 to 23 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 215408FC-C310-4E85-8B5A-5070227A1C85

Air Products Equipment Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to sell, which is equivalent to the net
realisahle value. Cost includes maierials, dircct labouwr aud an atiributable proportion ot manutacturing overheads
based on normal levels of activity. Cost is calculated using the FIFO (first-in, first-out) method. Provision is made
for obsolete, slow-moving or defective items where appropriate. For work in progress and finished goods cost is
taken as production cost, which includes an appropriate proportien of attributable overhcads.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and call deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject 10 an insignificant risk of change in value.

Basic financial instruments

Trade and other debtors / creditors

Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at transaction price less attributable transaction costs. Trade and
other creditors are recognised initially at transaction price plus attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses in
the case of trade debtors. If the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, for example if payment is deferred
beyond normal business terms, then it is measured at the present value of future payments discounted at a market
rate of instrument for a similar debt instrument.

Other financial instruments

Financial instruments not considered 1o be Basic financial instruments (Other financial instruments)

Other financial instruments not meeting the definition of Basic Financial Instruments are recognised imitially at
fair value. Subsequent to tnitial recognition other financial instruments are measured at [air value with changes
recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Foreign exchange forward contracts are designated as cash flow hedges to manage exposure to foreign currency
risk in highly probable forecasted transactions. These derivatives are measured at fair value at each reporting date.
To the extent the hedge is effective, movements in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and
presented in a separate cash flow hedge reserve. This amount is reclassified from the cash flow hedge reserve to
profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the hedged expected future cash flows affeet profit or
loss. Any ineffective portions of those movements are recognised in profit or loss for the period.

Foreign currency transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencics are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the rate of exchange ruling
at the balance sheet date, and the gains or losses on translation are included in the profit and loss account. If the
transaction is hedged forward, the gains or losses arising on completion of this contract are recognised on the datc
of completion in the profit and loss account.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates the fair value was determined.

The notes on pages 16 to 23 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Air Products Equipment Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Equity instruments are measured at the fair valuc of the cash or other
resources received or receivable, net of the direct costs ol issuing the equity instruments. If payment 1s deterred
and the time value of money is material, the initial measurement is on a present value basis.

3 Revenue

The analysis of the company's turnover for the year from continuing operaticens is as follows:

2022 2021
$ 000 $ 000
Sale of equipment 164,710 -
4 Operating profit
Arrived at after charging/(crediting)
2022 2021
$ 000 $ 000
Auditor’s remuncratien 19 -
5 Other interest receivable and similar income
2022 2621
$ 000 3000
Interest receivables from group undertakings 366 -
Third party interest B 2 -
368 -
6 Interest payable and similar expenses
2022 2021
$ 000 $ 000
Interest payable on loans from group undertakings 139 -

7 Directors’ remuneration

The directors did not receive any emoluments for their qualifying services to the company during the period.

8 Staff costs

The company has no employees and staff costs as it relies on Air Products PLC a related company for the
provision of operational, administrative and management services in both the current and prior year.

The notes on pages 16 to 23 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 215408FC-C310-4E85-8B5A-5070227A1C85

Air Products Equipment Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

9 Taxation

Tax charged in the profit and loss account:

2022 2021
$ 000 $ OO0
Current taxation
UK corporation tax 3,164 -

The tax on profit before tax for the period is higher than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK.

The differences are reconciled below:

2022 2021

$ 000 3 000
Profit before tax 16,650 -
Corporation tax at standard rate 3.164 - L
Total tax charge 3,164 _

The UK government announced in the 2021 March budget, an increase in the standard rate of corporation tax from
19% 1o 25% cffective from 1 April 2023. Deferred taxes on the Balance Shect have been measured at 25% which
represents the future corporation tax rate that was enacted at the Balance Sheet date. The changes introduced in
Finance Bill 2021 which were substantially enacted on the 24 May 2021, set the main rate of corporation tax at
259% for financial year 2023 for profits above £250,000 and establishes a small profits rate of 19% for profits
below £50,000. Marginal relief provisions will be introduced so that, where a company’s profits fall between the
lower and upper limits, it will be able to claim an amount of marginal relief that bridges the gap between the lower
and upper limits providing a gradual increase in the Corporation Tax rate.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets

Asset
2022 $ 000
Derivative financial instruments 22,520
22,520
10 Stocks
2022 2021
$ 000 $ 000
Work in progress 129,726 34,782

WIP represents project related expenditure on contracts that are still in the preliminary stage of planning. The
amount of inventory recognised in the profit and loss account during the year was $149,420,000.

The notes on pages 16 10 23 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Air Products Equipment Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

11 Debtors
2022 2021
$ 000 $ 000
Trade debtors 10,226 -
Amounts owed by rclated parties 203,980 -
Deferred 1ax asset 22,521 = -
236,727 -
12 Creditors
2022 2021
3 000 5000
Due within one year
Trade creditors 3,292 -
Amounts duc to related parties 1,938 34,782
Other payables 5 -
Accruals 31,862 -
Derivative financial instruments 45,915 -
Deferred income 302,830 -
385.842 34,782
Due after one year
Derivative financial instruments ) 38,056 -
38,036 -
Trade and other payables 423,898 34,782
Related party transactions are at interest rates equivalent to market rate.
13 Share capital
Allotted, called up and fully paid shares
2022 2021
No $ No. $
Ordinary shares of 81 each 1 1 1 1

The company issued 1 share of $1 with the share premium of $199,999 on 3rd November 2020,

The notes on pages 16 to 23 foerm an integral part of these financial statements.
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Air Products Equipment Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 September 2022 (continued)

14 Derivative financial instruments

Financial assets measured at fair value

Forward foreign currency contracts

The lair value of derivatives that are designated and ellective as hedging instruments carried at fair value

is S365,000 (2021: $nil) and the change in value included in profit or loss was $nil (2021: $nil). The fair value
of forward contracts with a GBP/USD exchange rate is $56,000 (2021 : Snil} and with a EUR/USD exchange
rate is $309,000 (2021: $nil).

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Forward fareign currency contracts

The fair value of derivatives that are designated and effective as hedging instruments carried at {air value

is $84,336,000 (2021: $nily and the change in value inciuded in profit or loss is $nil (2021: $nil). The fair value
of forward contracts with a GBP/USD exchange rate is $1,073,000 (2021: $nil) and with a LUR/USD exchange
rate is $83,263,000 (2021: $nil).

Cash flow hedges

Forward _fbreign CUHFFENCY COMFacts

Forward foreign currency contracts are designated as hedging instruments related te highly probable forecasted
transactions in foreign currencies. At 30 September 2022, the fair value of designated foreign exchange forward
contracts is $83,971,000 (2021: $nib). Expectations arc that cash flows related to designated hedges will occur and
impact profit and loss at least 12 months {rom the reporting date.

The amount of the change in fair value of the hedging instrument that was recognised in other comprehensive
income during the period is $90,082,000 {2021: $nil). The amount reclassified from equity to profit or loss for the
period is $nil (2021: $nil). The amount of hedge ineffectiveness that was recognised in profit or loss for the period
is $nil (2021; $nil).

15 Parent and ultimate parent undertaking

The company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Air Products Group Limited, a company incorporated in United
Kingdom.

The largest and smallest group in which the results of the company are consolidated is headed by Air Products
and Chemicals, Inc., the ultimate controlling party and a company incorporated in the State of Delaware, USA.
The consolidated financial statements of this group are available to the public and may be obtained from its
registered address:

Corporate Secretary

Air Products and Chemicals, Inc
7201 Hamiiton Boulevard
Allentown

Pennsylvania 18195 - 1501

The notes on pages 16 to 23 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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OUR BUSINESSES

Air Products (NYSE:APD), a world-leading industrial gases company
in operation for over 80 years, provides pssential inductrinl gases,

related equipment, and applications expertise to customers around the

world. Focused on energy, environmental, and emerging markets, the
Company has lwo growth pillars driven by sustainability. Air Products’
core industrial gases business serves customers in dozens of industries,

including refining, chemicals, metals, electronics, manufacturing, medical,

and food. The Company alsa develops, engineers, builds, owns, and

aperates somc of the world's largest industrial gas and carbon-capture
projects, supplying world-scale clean hydrogen for global transportation,
industrial markets, and the breader energy transition. Air Products is also
a world leader in several growth markets including hydrogen, helium, and
liquefied natural gas precess technology and equiprent, and provides

turbomachinery, membrane systems, and cryogenic containers globally.

D A I R R I I B Y

Blue and Green

Care Industrial

Gases Business Hydrogen
&
——— ———
L -
T T ————

Air Products reported fiscal year 2022 results under five segments:

+ Americas;

» Asia;

s Europe;

+ Middle East and India; and
s Corporate and other

The regional industrial gases
segments produce and sell
atmospheric gases, such as oxygen,
nitrogen and argon; process gases,
such as hydrogen, helium, carbon
dioxide, carbon monoexide, and
syngas {a mixture of hydrogen and
carbon menoxide); and specialty
gases. The regional segments
distribute gases to customers
through a variety of supply modes,
including liquid or gaseous bulk
supply delivered by tanker or tube

trailer and, for smaller custorners,

packaged gases delivered in cylinders

and dewars. For large-volume
customers with relatively constant
demand, the Company constructs or
acquires an on-site plant on or near
the customer’s facility or delivers
product from one of its pipelines.

The Corporate and other segrnent
includes the Company's sale

of equipment businesses. This
segment sells cryogenic and gas
processing equipment for air
separation, liquefied natural gas
process technology and equipment,
turbo machinery equipment and
services, and distribution equipment,
including membrane systems and
cryogenic containers. The Corporate
and other segment also reflects
costs to provide corporate support
functions and global management
activities that benefit all segments.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Consolidated sales by region

B us./Canada

M china

M Asia (excluding China)
Eurepe/Middle East/India/Africa

Latin America

Consolidated sales by business segment

. Americas
W 2sia
- Europe

Middle tast and India

Corporate and other

Millions of dellars, except for per share data 2022 20 Change
FOR THE YEAR {all from continuing operations, unless otherwise indicated)
GAAP
Sales $12,699 $10,323 23%
Net income margin™ 17.8% 20.5% (270) bp
Operating margin 18.4% 22.1% (370) bp
Return on capital employed ("ROCE”) {CAAP Basis) 8.3% 8.1% 20 bp
Cash used for investing activities $3,857 $2,733 1%
NON-GAAP
Adjusted EBITDA margin'® 33.4% 37.6% (420) bp
Adjusted operating margin'® 19.0% 22.0% {300} bp
ROCE [Non-GAAP Basig)® 1.2% 10.1% 10 bp
Capital expenditures™” $4,650 52,551 B82%
PER SHARE
GAAP diluted earnings per share ("EPS”} $10.08 $9.12 N%
Adjusted diluted EPS'® 510.41 $9.02 15%
Dividends declared per common share $6.36 $5.84 9%

(Al Fenods presented include mpacrs from discontinued operations

1B; Amounts are ron GAAPR finantiai meas.ares See pages |-V for reconabanion to tne comparable GAAR measures
10! Amounts are non-GAAP finanLia. measares See recond aton to the comparable GAAF measure within item 7 Management’s Dicusson and Analysis of Dngnoa! Condrtion and Resuits

of Dperations of the accompany ng Annual fcport or form 10-K

Alr Products 2022 Arnual Repert



RECONCILIATIONS OF NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

{Millions of dollars unless otherwise indicated, except for per share data)

Adjusted EBITDA

We define adjusted EBITDA as net income less income {loss) operating performance. Net income margin and adjusted EBITDA
from discontinued operations, net of tax, and excluding certain margin are caiculated by dividing net income and adjusted
items that we do not believe are indicative of underlying business EBITDA, respectively, by consolidated sales for each penod.
trends, before interest expense, other non-operating income The tables below present consolidated sales and a reconciliation
(expense), net, income tax provision, and depreciation and of net income on a GAAP basis to adjusted EBITDA and net income
amnrtization axpence, Adjusted COITDA and adjusled EBITDA margin on a GAAP basis to adjusted EBITDA margin:
margin provide useful metrics for management to assess
2022 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total
Sales 52,9942 $2,945] $3,189.3 $3,570.0 $12,698.6
Net income 549.6 5368 5871 593.0 2,2665
Net income margin 18.4% 18.2% 18.4% 16.6% 17.8%
Reconciliation of CAAP to Non-GAAP:
Net income $549.6 $536.8 $587.1 $5930 $2,266.5
Less: Income from discontinued operations, net of tax — - — 12.6 126
Add: Interest expense 305 323 327 325 128.0
Less: Other non-operating income (expense), net 226 9.1 10.5 202 62.4
Add: Income tax provision n3.3 122.7 134.2 1306 5008
Add: Depreciation and amortization 3323 3359 337.2 3328 1,338.2
Add: Business and asset actions - — — 737 73.7
Add: Equity method investment impairment charge - — — 14.8 4.8
Adjusted EBITDA $1,003. $1,018.6 $1,080.7 $1,144.6 54,2470
Adjusted EBITDA margin 33.5% 34.6% 23.9% 32.1% 33.4%
2021 a1 Q2 Q3 Q2 Total
Sales $2,375.2 $2,502.0 $2,6047 52,8411 $13,323.0
Net income 486.7 4771 5323 618.8 21458
Net income marsin 20.5% 19.1% 20.4% 21.8% 20.5%
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP:
Net income $486.7 $477.1 $532.3 $618.8 52,1146
Less: Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 10.3 — 82 518 703
Add: Interest expense 36.7 361 356 33.4 141.8
Less: Other non-operating income (expense), net 18.6 16.8 211 17.2 737
Add: Income tax provision N3.9 1219 1017 1253 4628
Add: Depreciation and amortization 323.7 329.3 3357 3326 1,321.3
Add: Facility closure - 23.2 — — 232
Less: Gain on exchange with joint venture partner — 36.8 — — 36.8
Adjusted EBITDA $9321 $934.0 $976.0 $1,0411 $3,883.2
Adjusted EBITDA margin 39.2% 37.3% 37.5% 36.6% 37.6%
2020 o), Q2 Q3 Q4 Total
Sales $2,254.7 $2,2163 52,0652 52,3201 $8,856.3
Net income 4889 490.4 4577 494.7 1,931
Net income margin 21.7% 22.1% 22.1% 21.3% 21.8%
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-CAAP:
Net income $4889 5490.4 54571 $4947 $1,9311
Less: Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax — 4.3) — — (14.3}
Add: Interest expense 18.7 19.3 321 39.2 109.3
Less: Other non-operating income {expense), net 9.1 71 81 6.4 30.7
Add: Income tax provision 120.7 148.5 105.3 99.9 478.4
Add: Depreciation and amortization 289.2 2847 290.6 3105 1185.0
Less: Company headquarters relocation income {expense} — 338 — — 33.8
Less: india Finance Act 2020 — equity affiliate income impact — 33.8 — — 338
Adjusted EBITDA 59084 $892.5 $881.0 $937.9 $3,619.8

Adjusted EBITDA margin 40.3% 40.3% 42.9% 40.4% 40.9%
i




2019 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Sales $2,224.0 52,1877 $2,224.0 $2,283.2
Net income 357.0 4335 500.2 518.7
Net income margin 16.0% 19.8% 22.5% 22.7%
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP:
Net income $357.0 44335 $500.2 $518.7
Less: income from discontinued operations, net of tax - - — —
Add: Interest expense 37.3 354 342 00
Lesy: Olher non-operaling inceme (expense), net 18.5 137 176 16.9
Add: Income tax provision 1327 107.5 1093 1312
Add: Depreciation and amortization 258N 2621 20691 2936
Add: Facility closure 29.0 -~ — —
Add: Cost reduction actions — - 255 —
Less: Gaih on exchange with joint venture partner - -~ 291 —
Adjusted EBITDA $794.9 $824.8 $891.6 9567
Adjusted EBITDA margin 35.7% 37.7% 40.1% 41.59%
2018 o] Q2 Q3 Q4
Sales $2,216.6 $2,155.7 $2,259.0 $2,2989
Net income 161.7 423.6 487.9 4597
Net income margin 7.3% 19.7% 21.6% 20.0%
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP:
Net income $161.7 $423.6 $487.9 $459.7
Less: Incagme (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax (1.0} — 432 —
Add: Interest expense 29.8 304 349 354
Less: Other non-operating income {expense), net 9.8 .1 128 (28.6)
Add: Income tax provision 2818 56.2 1071 £9.2
Add: Depreciation and amortization 2279 2400 2456 257.2
Less: Change in inventory valuation method - — - 241
Add: Tax reform repatriation - equity method investment 325 — — (4.0)
Adjusted EBITDA $734.9 $739. $819.5 $822.0
Adjusted EBITDA margin 33.2% 34.3% 36.3% 35.8%
2017 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Sales $1,8825 $1,980.1 $2,121.9 $2,2031
Net income 306.4 21357 104.1 475.0
Net income margin 16.3% 107.9% 4.9% 21.6%
Recanciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP:
Net income $306.4 $2,1357 $104.1 $475.0
Less: Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 482 18256 (2.3) (5.5)
Add: Interest expense 295 30.5 298 30.8
Less: Other non-operating inceme (expense), net (0.2) 5.3 3.7 7.8
Add: Incame tax provision (benefit) 784 945 89.3 {1.3}
Add: Depreciation and amortization 2061 2.8 216.9 231.0
Add: Business separation costs 325 - — —
Add: Cost recduction and asset actions 50.0 10.3 42.7 484
Add: Goodwill and intangible asset impairment charge — - 1621 —
Less: Gainon land sale - - — 12.2
Ada: Equity method investment impairment charge - - 795 —
Adjusted EBITDA 5654.9 $651.9 $723.0 57694
Adjusted EBITDA margin 34.8% 32.9% 341% 34.9%

Air Products | 2022 Annual Report
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2016 (o] Q2 Q3 Q4
Sales $1866.3 $1777.4 $1,914.5 $1,9455
Net income 3720 {465.5) 3541 4009
Net incurne margin 19.9% (26.2)% 18.5% 20.6%
Reconciliation of CAAP to Non-GAAP:
Net income $372.0 ($465.5) $354.1 5400.9
Less: Income {loss} frem discontinued operaticns, net of tax 84.8 (750.2) 98.4 1065
Add: Interest expense 222 257 351 322
Add: Income tax provisiorn 96.4 935 145.9 96,8
Add: Depreciation and amortization 2147 213.8 213.5 2125
Add: Business separation costs 12.0 7.4 9.5 217
Add: Cost reduction and asset actions — 10.7 13.2 10.6
Add: Pension settfement loss — 2.0 1.0 21
Add: Loss on extinguishment of debt - — — 6.9
Adjusted EBITDA $632.5 $637.9 $673.9 $677.2
Adjusted FRITDA margin 33.9% 35.9% 352% 34.8%
2015 Qt Q2 Q3 Q4
Sales $2,041.0 $1,885.3 $1,534.4 $1,963.6
Net income 3375 2969 333.2 350.0
Net income margin 16.5% 157% 17.2% 17.8%
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP:
Net income $3375 $296.9 $333.2 $350.0
Less: Income from disconfinued operations, net of tax 76.7 103.4 994 722
Add: Interest expense 288 23.2 281 227
Add: Income tax provision 76.8 63.0 74.7 857
Add: Depreciation and amortization 2153 2139 214.2 2151
Add: Business separation costs — — — 7.5
Add: Business restructuring and cost reduction actions 243 52.9 49.6 533
Less: Gain on previously held equity interest 17.9 — — —
Less: Gain on land sales — — — 336
Add: Pension settlement loss — 1.9 1.4 6.0
Add: Loss on extinguishment of debt — — — 166
Adjusted EBITDA $588.1 $558.4 $601.8 $651.1
Adjusted EBITDA margin 28.8% 29.6% 31.1% 33.2%
2014 (o)} Q2 Q3 Q4
Sales 52,5455 $2,581.9 $2,634.6 $2,671.0
Net income 299.0 2916 3234 791
Net income margin N.7% 1.3% 12.3% 3.0%
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-CAAP
Net income 52990 52916 53234 5791
Less: Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 1.3 (FA))] (2.0) (on
Add: Interest expense 333 31.5 313 29.0
Add: Income tax provision 953 93.0 103.0 781
Add: Depreciation and amortization 2342 2291 239.0 254.6
Add: Business restructuring and cost reduction actions - — - 12.7
Add: Goodwill and intangible asset impairment charge — — — 310.7
Add: Pension settlement loss — — — 5.5
Adjusted EBITDA $660.5 $647.3 56987 5769.2
Adjusted EBITDA margin 259% 251% 26.5% 287%
|81 Freanyear 201415 presented as previousy reported i aur Annual Report on Farm 10 & *ar the fiscal year snded Septeraber 300 2006, whith included the results of the farmer
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Adjusted Operating Margin

The table below reconciles operating margin on a GAAP basis

to adjusted operating margin. Operating margin and adjusted
Oferating margin are calculated by dividing operating income and
adjusted operating income, respectively, by consolidated sales for

each period. The adjusted measures exclude the impact of certain
items that we do not believe are indicative of underlying business
perfarmance.

2022 20 Change
Sales §12,698.6 10,3230
Operating income 2,338.8 22814
Operating margin 18.4% 22.1% (370} bp
Reconciliaticn of GAAP to Non-GAAP:
Operating income $4,338.8 $2,2814
Facility closure - 232
Business and asset actions 737 —
Gain on exchange with joint venture partner — (36.8)
Adjusted operating income £2,412.5 $2,2678
Adjusted operating margin 19.0% 22.0% {(300) bp

Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per Share (“EPS")

Adjusted diluted £PS is calculated as net income from continuing
operations attributable to Air Products, excluding the impact of
certain items that we do not believe are indicative of underlying
business performance ("non-CAAP adjustments”), divided by

the weighted average commen shares reflecting the potential
dilution that could occur if stock options or other share-based

awards were exercised or converted into common stock. We
believe it is important for the reader to understand the per share
impact of our non-GAAP adjustments because management does
not consider these impacts when evaluating underlying business
performance. Per share impacts are calculated independently and
may not sum to total adjusted diluted EPS due to rounding.

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Diluted EPS $10.08 $9.12 $8.55 $7.94  $6.59 $5.16 $5.04 $4.29 $3.24
Change in inventory valuation method - — — — (0.08) — — — —
Facility closure — 0.08 — 010 - - — — -
Business and asset actions 0.27 — — - — — - — -
Business separation costs - — — — - 0.12 0.21 0.03 -
Tax (bevjeﬁt) costs associated with business _ . - _ _ (002) 024 _ _
separation
Business _restructurmg, cost reduction, and o - o 0.08 - 0.49 omn 0.61 0.03
asset actions
Goodwill and intangible asset impairment _ _ - . _ 070 . . 127
charge
Gain on exchange with joint venture partner — (012} — (0.13) — — — — —
Gain on previously held equity interest — - — — — — — {(0.05) —
Company headquarters relocation {income) expense — — {012} — - — — — —
Gain onland sales — — — — — (0.03) — (0.13) —
India Finance Act 2020 — — {0.06} — — — — — —
Equity method investment impairment charge  0.05 — — - — 0.36 — — -
Pension settlement loss — — — 0.02 015 0.02 0.02 0.06 0.02
Lass on extinguishment of debt - — - — — — 0.02 0.07 —
Tax reform repatriation — — — (0.06) 216 — - — —
Tax reform adjustment related to deemed - - _
foreign dividends - - - 026 (025) a
Tax reform rate change and other — — - — (0.96) — — — —
Tax restructuring — — — — (0.16) — — — —
Tax election benefit and ather — (005 — — — (0.50) — — (0.14)
Adjusted Diluted EPS 510.41 $9.02 $8.38 $8.21 57.45 $6.31 $5.64 5488 $4.42
FY2022 FY2021 FY2020 FY2019  FY2018  FY2017  FY2016  FY2015
Vs, V5. VS, Vs, Vs, Vs, V5. Vs,
FY2021 FY2020 FY2019  FY2018  FY2017 FY2016  FY20'5  FY2014
Change GAAP
Diluted EPS $ change $0.96 50.57 $0.61 $1.35 $1.43 $012  S075 $1.05
__Diluted EPS % change 1% 7% 8% 20% 28% 2% 17% 32%
Change Non-GAAP
Adjusted difuted EPS $ change $1.39 s0.64 0.7 $0.76 $1.14 5067 5076 50.46
Adjusted diluted EPS % change 15% 8% 2% 10% 18% 12% 16% 10%
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Return on Capital Employed (“ROCE") {Non-GAAP Basis)

Return on capital employed (“ROCE"} is calculated on a continuing
operations basis. Management considers this measure to be useful

in evatuating the Company’s returns en capitat.

2022 2021 2020

ROCE (GAAP Basis): Q4 03 Q2 o] Q4 a3 Q2 Ql Q4
Net income $563.0 $587.1 $536.8 $549.6 $618.8 $5323 $477.1 S486.7
Total liabilities and equity 27926 274890 274497 271253 26,8592 2R2521 0 26,1589 20,0881 25,1685
Fuur-Quarter trathing Net Income  $2,266.5 52,1149
+ Five-Quarter Average Total
Liabilities and Equity 27,2232 26,105.4
ROCE (GAAP Basis) 2.3% 8.1%

Change vs. prior year 20bp o B o
ROCE (Non-GAAP Basis):
Netincome $593.0 55871 $536.8 $545.6 $618.8 $532.3 54771 $486.7
(Income) Loss from discontinued
operations, net of tax (12.6) — — — {51.8) (8.2) — (10.3)
Interest expense 325 32.7 323 305 334 356 36.1 36.7
Facility closure — — - - - - 23.2 —
Business and asset actions 737 - - - - - — -
Gain on exchange with joint
venture partner — — - - — — {36.8) -
Equity investment impairment
charge 14.8 — — - - - — -
Tax election benefit and other - — — - - (12.2) — —
Tax other™ (22.4) (6.1) (6.0 (5.2) (6.0) (5.8) (37 (7.1)
Return_Af‘Eer-Tax (Non~GAAP Basis) $679.0 o 56137 55631 5574.9_ 55944 ) 55417 $495.9 __$596,0 L
Total liabilities and equity $271926 $274890 $274487 35271253 4268592 $26,2521 526,589 526,0881 $251685
Less: Payables and accrued
liabilities 27716 2,544.4 2,4071 2,310.6 2,218 3 2Nn8.4 2,042.2 11,9622 1,833.2
Less: Accrued income taxes 1352 1079 104.6 1n9.8 939 78.8 86.7 108.4 105.8
tess: Other noncurrent liabilities 1,691.2 1726.2 1,736.8 17317 1,640.9 1,819.0 18400 19357 1,816.0
Less: Deferred income taxes 1,247.4 1,308.6 1,249.0 1,209.6 1,180.9 1,078.2 1,050.8 1,003.0 9626
Capital Employed
{Non-GAAP Basis) $21,3472 $21801.9 $21,9522 $21753.6  $2,7252 $21,1577 $21139.2  $21,078.8 $20,350.9
Four-Quarter Trailing Return
After-Tax—Non-GAAP 52,4307 $2,138.0
+ Five-Quarter Average Capital
Employed —Non-GAAP 21,716.0 21,0904
ROCE {Non-GAAP Basis) M.2% 10.1%

Change vs. prior year 10 bp ) o 3 B o

(A} Represents the tax impact on interest expense and our pre-tax non-GAAP adjustments
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

My fellow shareholders:

1 am extremely proud that the people of Air Products

again exceeded our financial goals in fiscal 2022, delivering
Impressive results despite the challenging macroeconomic
and geopolitical environment. | would like to thank each
of our talented, dedicated and motivated employees for
their exceptional efforts toward this strong performance. I
am honored every day to be working alongside the team,
as they continue to focus on delivering near-term results
while executing on our long-term growth strategy.

There are two pillars to our growth strategy at Air Products,
and sustainability is the foundation. Through our core
industrial gases business, we supply customers in dozens
of industries with critical products and expertise that

lower emissions and increase efhciency and productivity.
Through our blue and green hydrogen megaprojects, we
will commit more than $15 billion by 2027 te deliver clean
hydrogen at scale, helping to drive the energy transition
and move humanity forward.

Adjusted EPS* trend
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These twe pillars, which support and rely upon each other
for success, put us at the heart of solving the world's needs
for clean. sustainable energy and environmental solutions.
As you know, this is our higher purpose as a Cernpany.

We continue to devote significant attention to corporate
governance to support this growth. We also are continuing
to build a diverse and inclusive culture where cur more
than 21,000 people feel they belong and matter and are
motivated to achieve our goals.

For fiscal year 2022, our people delivered strong adjusted
earnings per share* {“EPS”) of $10.41, an increase of 15
percent compared to last year. Since 2014, our goal has

been to deliver an average adjusted EPS™ growth rate

of 10 percent per year. In the last eight years, we have
exceeded this goal, delivering 11 percent for this time period,
regardless of the macrceconomic conditions.

We also remain committed tc creating sharehoclder value
and are very proud that we have consistently increased the
dividend for 40 consecutive years. Our dividend has grown
10 percent per year on average during the past eight years,
miirroring cur adjusted EPS* growth rate.In calendar 2022,
we returned more than $1.4 billion to our shareholders and
still have significant cash flow to support our many growth
oppertunities.

Dividend history

40 consecutive years of dividend increases
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" Non-GAAP financial measures. See recanciliation to GAAP results on pages 1lI-VI,
™ Based on annualized gquarterly dividend declared in first quarter.
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Fiscal 2022 Performance

Our fiscal 2022 financial performance is detailed in

the accompanying Annual Report oen Form 10 K, and [
also encourage you to review the investor slides on our
website, which detail our accomplishments this year
and our strategic path forward.

Safety is our #1 priority at Air Products. We are

focused on improving our safety performance thraigh
intentional acticns to engage everyone and ensure we
follow procedures. Overall, we have seen a 63 percent
improvement in the employee lost-time injury rate and
a 40 percent improvement in the employee recordable
injury rate since fiscal 2014, We are fecused on ensuring
the safety and well-being of all of our employees.

Our ultimate goal will always be zero incidents and
accidents,

........................................

(14

I am proud to say
that we have continued to
create and win projects that
help customers and
countries meet their
growing needs for
cleaner energy and
environmental solutions.
In doing so,
we are making
our dream a reality.

29

........................................

Making
Our Dream
a Reality

Air Products’ goal is to be
the safest, most diverse and
most profitable industrial
gas company in the world,
providing excellent service
to our customers.

Qur dream of the future is for Air Froducts to be
the leader in providing solutions to the world's
environmental challenges through innovative
processes and facilities to provide green and blue
hydrogen on a werld-scale. This requires expertise
and technologies in the production of green
hydrogen and carbon capture technologies to
enable the production of blue hydrogen.

Our dream of the future is to be a company that
has a higher purpose beyond just creating value
for shareholders through improved financial
performance. ..

a company where people from all walks of life and
nationalities come together, work together, and
feel that they belong and that their contributions
matter and are appreciated . ..

a company that is focused on innovation to solve
the substantial environmental issues facing all
humanity . ..

a company that is compassionate and contributes
to the well-being of all the communities in which
we operate around the globe .

a global company that brings people from all
over the world together, to collaborate, improve
understanding and prevent conflicts that arise
from misunderstanding.



TO QUR SHAREHOLDERS CONTINUED

Making Our Dream a Reality

Working Together.
Winning Together.

..............................

Air Products 1 2022 Annyal Report
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in Fiscal 2022

This year, we took another significant step forward toward a clean hydrogen
future, announcing our investment of about $500 million in a new green
hydrogen project in Massena, New York, located on the banks of the st.
Lawrence River. The facility will produce about 35 metric tons of green liquid
hydrogen using almost 100 megawatts of hydro-electric power provided by
the New York Power Authority. This project broadens our renewable energy
sources beyond solar and wind energy to now include hydropower.

We also announced our sustainable aviation fuel (SAF} project with World
Energy. This now $2.5 billion major expansion project will produce SAF at
World Energy’s Paramount, California location — the world’s first and North
America’s only commercial-scale SAF production facility. Air Products will
supply SAF to World Energy under a long-term on-site contract. We also
extended our hydrogen pipeline network te further increase supply reliability
for all of our Southern California hydrogen pipeline customers.

We expect the landmark U.S. Inflation Reduction Act to create additional
opportunities for clean hydrogen and carbon sequestration projects in the
future,

With our net-zero hydrogen energy complex in Edmonton, Alberta,
Canada, we marked two significant milestones. First, we signed a long-

term supply agreement for about half of the facility's cutput to supply
Imperial Oil's Strathcona renewable diesel complex. Second, at a ceremony
in Edmonton, federal and provincial government representatives announced
approximately 475 million (CAD) in project funding for our energy complex,
reflecting their confidence in our ability to operate one of the most
competitive and lowest-carbon-intensity hydrogen networks in the world.

We also closed Phase [ of the Jazan gasification and power project, which
delivered a significant contribution in fiscal 2022, In addition, we signed two
major on-site agreements this year, together vatued at $1.3 billion, to supply
industrial gases to major sermiconductor manufacturers.

Also, we continued to make progress on the NEOM green hydregen project
in Saudi Arabia, finalizing the design and moving forward with the project
execution, as well as the world-scale clean energy complex in Louisiana

to produce blue hydrogen for local and global markets expected to come
onstream in 2026

We are seeing the manifestation of the major project strategy that we
embarked on a few years age, and that is going to drive a sighificant amount
of growth as these major projects come onstream. This backdrop of the major
projects for hydregen and the energy transition, combined with our strong
focus on the base business, makes this an exciting time for all of us to be
working together and winning together.
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In closing, as | do each year, | want to sincerely thank those who have
supported us and helped us achieve our success.

To our customers . .. In innovating alongside you, we serve our higher
purpose — supplying products that benefit the environment and help you be
more efficient and sustainable. Thank you for your continued confidence and
trustin us.

To our employees . .. Through your dedication and commitment, you continue

to play a critical role and make a difference to the world every day, and
especially during these challenging times,

To our shareholders . . . As always, thank you for your confidence and trust in
Air Products. Our priority remains creating superior value for you.

| believe Air Products is uniquely positioned to help the world transition to a
cleaner and better future. It is a better future we believe in and in which we
are totally vested.

Seifi Ghasemi

Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer of Air Products
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” within the safe harbor provisions of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements include all statements that do not

relate solely to historical or current facts and can generally be identified by words such as "anticipate,” “believe,”
“could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “forecast,” "future,” “goal,” “intend,” * i " “plan,” “positioned,” “possible,”

LY "o,

may,” “outlock,
“potential,” “project,” “should,” “target,” “will,” *would,” and similar expressions or variations thereof, or the negative
thereof, but these terms are not the exclusive means of identifying such statements. Forward-looking statements
are based on management’s expectations and assumptions as of the date of this report and are not guarantees of
future performance. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements.

Forward-lnnking statementa may relale lw a number ot matters, including expectations regarding revenue, margins,
expenses, earnings, tax provisions, cash flows, pension obligations, share repurchases or other statements
regarding economic conditions or our business outlook; statements regarding plans, projects, strategies and
objectives for our future operations, including our abilily to win new projects and execute the projects in our backlog;
and statements regarding our expectations with respect to pending legal claims or disputes. While forward-looking
statements are made in good faith and based on assumptions, expectations and projections that management
believes are reasonable based on currently available information, actual performance and financial results may
differ materially from projections and estimates expressed in the forward-looking statements because of many
factors, including, without limitation;

- the duration and impacts of the ongoing COVID-19 global pandemic and efforts to contain its transmission,
including the effect of these factors on our business, our customers, economic conditions and markets
generally;

- changes in global or regional economic conditions, inflation, and supply and demand dynamics in the market
segments we serve, including demand for technologies and projects to limit the impact of global climate
change;

+ changes in the financial markets that may affect the availability and terms on which we may obtain financing;
» the ability to implement price increases to offset cost increases;
» disruptions to our supply chain and related distribution delays and cost increases;

- risks associated with having extensive international operations, including political risks, risks associated with
unanticipated government actions and risks of investing in developing markets;

- project delays, contract terminations, customer canceliations, or postponement of projects and sales;
+ our ability to safely develop, operate, and manage costs of large-scale and technically complex projects;
- the future financial and operating performance of major customers, joint ventures, and equity affiliates;

+ our ability to develop, implement, and operate new technologies and to market products produced utilizing
new technologies;

« our ability to execute the projects in our backlog and refresh our pipeline of new projects;

« tariffs, economic sanctions and regulatery activities in jurisdictions in which we and our affiliates and joint
ventures operate;

+ the impact of environmental, tax, safety, or other legislation, as well as regulations and other public policy
initiatives affecting cur business and the business of cur affiliates and related compliance requirements,
including legislation, regulations, or policies intended to address global climate change;

= changes in tax rates and other changes in tax faw;
- safety incidents relating to our operations;

- the timing, impact, and other uncertainties relating to acquisitions and divestitures, including our ability to
integrate acquisitions and separate divested businesses, respectively,



FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

risks relating to cybersecurity incidents, including risks from the interruption, failure or compromise of our
information systems;

catastiophic events, such as natural disasters and extreme weather events, public health crises, acts of war,
including Russia's invasion of Ukraine and the ongoing civil war in Yemen, or terrorism;

the impact on our business and customers of price fluctuations in oil and natural gas and disruptions in
markets and the economy due to oil and natural gas price volatility;

costs and outcomes of legal or regulatory proceedings and investigations;
asset impairments due to economic conditions or specific events;

significant fluctuations in inflation, interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates from those currently
anticipated;

damage to facilities, pipelines or delivery systems, including those we own or operate for third parties;
availability and cost of electric power, natural gas, and cther raw materials;

the success of productivity and operational improvement programs.

In addition to the foregoing factors, forward-locking statements contained herein are qualified with respect to the
risks disclosed elsewhere in this document, including in Item 1A, Risk Factors, ltem 7, Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and ltem 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk. Any of these factors, as well as those not currently anticipated by management,
could cause our results of operations, financial condition or liquidity to differ materialty from what is expressed or
implied by any forward-looking statement. Except as required by law, we disclaim any obligation or undertaking to
update or revise any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in assumptions, beliefs, or
expectations or any change in events, conditions, or circumstances upon which any such forward-looking
statements are based.

Air Products | 2022 Annual Report
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PART I

ltem 1. Business

About Air Products

Air Products and Chemicals, Inc., a Delaware corporation originally founded in 1940, provides essential industrial
gases, related equipment, and applications expertise to customers around the world. We have a sustainability-
driven two-pillar growth strategy that includes expansion and efficient operation of our core industrial gases
business and execution of projects that provide world-scale clean hydrogen. We serve customers in dozens of
industries, including refining, chemicals, metals, electronics, manufacturing, medical, and food. We also develop,
engineer, build, cwn, and operate some of the world's largest industrial gas and carbon-capture projects, supplying
clean hydrogen that will support global transportation, industrial markets, and the broader energy transition away
from fossii fuels. We have built leading positions in several growth markets, such as hydrogen, helium, and liquetied
nalural gas ("LN(") process technology and equipment, and provide turbomachinery, membrane systems, and
cryogenic containers globally.

v o

As used in this report, unless the context indicates otherwise, the terms “we,” “our,” “us,” the “Company,” "Air

Products,” or “registrant” include our controlled subsidiaries and affiliates.

Except as otherwise noted, the description of our business below reflects our continuing operations. Refer to Note
5, Discontinued Qperations, to the consolidated financial statements for activity associated with discontinued
operations.

During the fiscal year ended 30 September 2022 (“fiscal year 2022"), we reported our continuing operations in five
reporting segments under which we managed our cperations, assessed performance, and reported

earnings: Americas; Asia; Europe; Middle East and India; and Corporate and other. The discussion that follows is
based on those operations. Refer to Note 23, Business Segment and Geographic Information, to the consolidated
financial statements for additional details on our reportable business segments.

Industrial Gases Business

Our industrial gases business is organized and operated regionally. Our industrial gases business produces and
sells atmospheric gases, such as oxygen, nitrogen, and argon; process gases, such as hydrogen, helium, carbon
dioxide (CQO,), carbon monoxide, and syngas (a mixture of hydrogen and carbon monoxide}; and speciaity gases.
Atmospheric gases are produced through various air separation processes, of which cryogenic is the most
prevalent, while process gases are produced by methods other than air separation. For example, hydrogen, carbon
monoxide, and syngas are produced by steam methane reforming of natural gas and by the gasification of liquid
and solid hydrocarbons. For the production of hydrogen, we purify byproduct sources obtained from the chemical
and petrochemical industries. Today, we primarily produce hydrogen from hydrocarbons without carbon capture. Cur
newer energy transition projects are focused on producing clean hydrogen from hydrocarbons with carbon capture
(known as “"blue hydrogen”) as well as from renewable energy (known as “green hydrogen”). Helium is produced as
a byproduct of gases extracted from underground reservoirs, primarily natural gas, but also CO, purified before
resale. The industrial gases business also develops, builds, and operates equipment for the production or
processing of gases, such as air separation units and non-cryogenic generators.

The regional segments supply gases, related equipment, and applications in the relevanl region to diversified
customers in many industries, including those in refining, chemicals, metals, electronics, manufacturing, medical,
and food. Hydrogen is used by refiners to facilitate the conversion of heavy crude feedstock and lower the sulfur
content of gascline and diesel fuels, as well as in the developing hydrogen-for-mobility markets. We have hydrogen
fueling stations that support commercial markets as well as demonstration projects across the gicbe. The chemicals
industry uses hydrogen, oxygen, nitrogen, carbon meonoxide, and syngas as feedstocks in the production of many
basic chemicals. The energy production industry uses nitrogen injection for enhanced recovery of oil and natural
gas and oxygen for gasification. Oxygen is used in combustion and industrial heating applications, including in the
steel, certain nonferrous metals, glass, and cement industries. Nitrogen applications are used in food processing for
freezing and preserving flavor, and nitrogen is used for inerting in various fields, including the metals, chemical, and
semiconductor industries. Helium is used in laboratories and healthcare for cooling and in other industries for
pressurizing, purging, and lifting. Argon is used in the metals and other industries for its unique inerting, thermal
conductivity, and other properties. Industrial gases are also used in welding and providing healthcare and are
utilized in various manufacturing processes to make them more efficient and to optimize performance.



Industrial gases are generally produced at or near the peoint of use given the complexity and inefficiency with storing
molecules at low temperatures. Helium, however, is generally sourced globally, at long distances from point of sale.
As a result, we maintain an inventery of helium stored in our fleet of ISO containers as well as at the U.S. Bureau of
l.and Management underground storage facility in Amarillo, Texas, and our storage cavern near Beaumont, Texas.

We distribute gases to our sale of gas customers through different supply modes depending on various factors
including the customer's volume requirements and lecation. Our supply modes are as follows:

s Liguid Bultk—Product is delivered in bulk in either liquid or gaseous form via tanker or tube trailer and stored,
usually in its fiquid state, in equipment that we typically design and install at the customer’s site for vaporizing
into a gaseous state as needed. Liquid bulk sales are usually governed by three- to five-year contracts.

* Packaged Gases—Small quantities of product are delivered in either cylinders or dewars. We operate
packaged gas businesses in Europe, Asia, and Latin America. In the United States, our packaged gas
business sells products (principally helium) only fur the electronics and magnetic resonance imaging
industries.

* On-Site Gases—L arge quantities of hydrogen, nitrogen, oxygen, carbon monoxide, and syngas are provided
to customers, principally in the energy production and refining, chemical, metals, and electronics industries
worldwide, that require large volumes of gases and have relatively constant demand. Gases are produced
and supplied by large facilities we construct or acquire on or near the customers’ facilities or by pipeline
systems from centrally located production facilities. These sale of gas contracts are generally governed by 15-
to 20-year contracts. We also deliver smaller quantities of product through small on-site plants (cryogenic or
non-cryogenic generators), typically via a 10- to 15-year sale of gas contract.

Electricity is the largest cost component in the production of atmospheric gases. Steam methane reformers utilize
natural gas as the primary raw material and gasifiers use liguid and solid hydrocarbons as the principal raw material
for the production of hydrogen, carbon monoxide, and syngas. We mitigate electricity, natural gas, and hydrocarbon
price fluctuations contractually through pricing formulas, surcharges, and cost pass-through and tolling
arrangements. During fiscal year 2022, no significant difficulties were encountered in obtaining adequate supplies of
power and natural gas.

We obtain helium from a number of sources globally, including crude helium for purification from the U.S. Bureau of
Land Management's helium reserve.

The regional industrial gases segments also include our share of the results of several joint ventures accounted for
under the equity method. Our share of our investees' net earnings is primarily presented net of income taxes within
“Equity affiliates’ income” on our consolidated income statements. The largest of these joint ventures operate in
China, Ingia, ltaly, Mexico, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, and Thailand. The carrying value of our equity method
investments is reflected as “Investment in net assets of and advances to equity affiliates” on our consolidated
balance sheets.

Each of the regicnal industrial gases segments competes against three global industrial gas companies: Air Liquide
S.A, Messer, and Linde plc, as well as regional competitors. Competition in industrial gases is based primarily on
price, reliability of supply, and the development of industrial gas applications. We derive a competitive advantage in
locations where we have pipeline networks, which enable us to provide reliable and economic supply of products to
our larger customers.

Overall regional industrial gases sales constituted approximately 92%, 92%, and 94% of consolidated sales in fiscal
years 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively. Sales of atmospheric gases constituted approximately 43%, 47%, and
47% of consolidated sales in fiscal years 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively, while sales of tonnage hydrogen,
syngas, and related products constituted approximately 28%, 22%, and 22% of consolidated sales in fiscal years
2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively.
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Industrial Gases Equipment

We design and manufacture equipment for air separation, hydrocarbon recovery and purification, natural gas
liquefaction, and liguid helium and liquid hydrogen transport and storage. The Corporate and other segment
includes activity related to the sale of cryogenic and gas processing equipment for air separation. The equipment is
sold worldwide to customers in a variety of industries, inciuding chemical and petrochemical manufacturing, oil and
gas recovery and processing, and steel and primary metals processing. The Corporate and other segment alsc
includes our LNG equipment business, our Gardner Cryogenics business fabricating helium and hydrogen transport
and slorage containers, and our Rotoflow business, which manufactures turboexpanders and other precision
rotating equipment. Steel, aluminum, and capital equipment subcomponents such as compressors are the principal
raw materials in the manufacturing of equipment. Raw materials for individual projects typically are acquired under
firm purchase agreemoents. Equipment is produced at ow manufacturing sites with certain components being
procured from subcontractors and vendors. Competition in the equipment business is based primarily on plant
efficiency, service, technical know-how, and price, as well as schedule and plant performance guarantees. Sale of
equipment constituted approximately 8%, 8%, and §% of consulidated sales in fiscal years 2022, 2021, and 2020,
respectively.

International Operations

Through our subsidiaries, affiliates, and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method, we conduct business
in approximately 50 countries oulside the United States. Cur international businesses are subject to risks
customarily encountered in foreign operations, including fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and
controls, tariffs, trade sanctions, import and expert controls, and other economic, political, and regulatory policies of
local governments described in ltem 1A, Risk Factors, below.

We have majority or wholly owned foreign subsidiaries that operate in Canada and approximately 20 countries in
Europe (including the Netherlands, Poland, Spain, and the countries of the United Kingdom); approximately 10
countries and regions in Asia (including China, South Korea, and Taiwan); approximately 10 countries in Latin
America (including Brazil and Chile); approximately five countries in the Middie East (including Saudi Arabia and
Israel), and approximately five countries in Africa. We also own less-than-controlling interests in entities operating in
Europe, Asia, Latin America, the Middle East, and Africa.

Financial information about our foreign operations and investments is included in Note 7, Equity Affiliates; Note 21,
Income Taxes; and Note 23, Business Segment and Geographic Information, to the consolidated financial
statements included under ltem 8, below. Information about foreign currency translation is included under “Foreign
Currency” in Note 1, Basis of Presentation and Major Accounting Policies, and information on our exposure to
currency fluctuations is included in Note 12, Financial Instruments, to the consolidated financial statements,
included under ltem 8, below, and in “Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk,” included under ltem 7A, below.

Technology Development

We pursue a market-oriented approach to technology development through research and development,
engineering, and commercial development processes. We conduct research and development principally in our
laboratories located in the United States (Allentown, Pennsylvania), the United Kingdom {Basingstoke and
Carrington), Spain (Barcelona), China {Shanghai), and Saudi Arabia (Dhahran). We also fund and cooperate in
research and development programs conducted by a number of major universities and undertake research work
funded by others, including the United States government.

Development of technology for use within the Industrial Gases business focuses primarily on new and improved
processes and equipment for the production and delivery of industrial gases and new or improved applications for
industrial gas products.

During fiscal year 2022, we owned approximately 674 United States palents, approximately 3,245 foreign patents,
and were a licensee under certain patents owned by others. While the patents and licenses are considered
important, we do not consider our business as a whole to be materially dependent upon any particular patent,
patent license, or group of patents or licenses.



Environmental Regulation

We are subject to various environmental laws, regulations, and public policies in the countries in which we have
operations. Compliance with these measures often results in higher capital expenditures and costs. In the normal
course of business, we are involved in legal proceedings under the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act ("CERCLA,” the l[ederal Superfund law); Resource Conservation and Recovery Act
("RCRA"); and similar state and foreign environmental laws relating to the designation of certain sites for
investigation cr remediation. Our accounting policy for environmental expenditures is discussed in Note 1, Basis of
Presentation and Major Accounfing Policies, and environmental loss contingencies are discussed in Note 16,
Commitments and Contingencies, to the consolidated financial statements, included under Item 8, below.

Some of our operations are within jurisdictions that have or are developing regulatory regimes governing emissions
of greenhouse gases (*GHG”), including CC,. These include existing coverage under the European Union Emission
Trading System, the California Cap-and-Trade Program, China's Emission Trading Scheme and its nation-wide
expansion, and South Korea’s Emission Trading Scheme. In the Netherlands, a CG; emissions tax was enacted on
1 January 2021. In Canada, Alberta’s Technology Innovation and Emission Reduction System went into effect 1
January 2020. In Ontario, Environment & Climate Change Canada’s Quiput Based Pricing System (“OBPS”) was
replaced by the GHG Emissions Performance Standards ("EPS") program beginning 1 January 2022. In Singapore,
the Carbon Pricing Tax Act was implemented effective 1 January 2019. In Taiwan, Greenhouse Gases Emissions
Registration and Verification Management Act will be enforced beginning in 2023. In addition, the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA”) requires mandatory reporting of GHG emissions and is regulating GHG
emissions for new construction and major modifications to existing facilities. Some jurisdictions have various
mechanisms to target the power sector to achieve emission reductions, which often result in higher power costs.

Increased public concern may result in more international, U.S. federal, and/or regional requirements to reduce or
mitigate the effects of GHG emissions. Although uncertain, these developments could increase our costs related to
consumption of electric power, hydrogen production and application of our gasification technology. We believe we
will be able to mitigate some of the increased costs through contractual terms, but the lack of definitive legislation or
regulatory requirements prevents an accurate estimate of the long-term impact these measures will have on our
operations. Any legislation that limits or taxes GHG emissions could negatively impact our growth, increase our
operating costs, or reduce demand for certain of our products.

Regulation of GHG may also produce new opportunities for us. We continue to develop technologies to help our
facilities and our customers lower energy consumption, improve efficiency and lower emissions. We see significant
opportunities for hydrogen for mobility and energy transition, carben capture technologies, and gasification.

We estimate that we spent approximately $10 million, $8 million, and $4 million in fiscal years 2022, 2021, and
2020, respectively, on capital projects reflected in continuing operations to control pollution. Capital expenditures to
control pollution are estimated to be approximately $11 million in both fiscal years 2023 and 2024,

For additional information regarding envircnmental matters, refer tc Note 16, Commitments and Contingencies, to
the consolidated financial statements.

Sustainability

Our Sustainability Report details our growth strategy and the role our employees play in achieving our goals.
Through our "Grow—Conserve—Care" approach to sustainability, we are growing responsibly alongside our
customers through sustainability-driven opportunities, conserving resources, and caring for our employees and
communities. Our latest Sustainability Report is available at www.airproducts.com/company/sustainability/
sustainability-report. The information posted on our website, including our Sustainability Report, is not incorporated
by reference into, and does not form part of, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

During fiscal 2022, we announced new sustainability goals, including a commitment to $15 billion in energy
transition projects through 2027. We believe our higher purpose is to bring people together to collaborate and
innovate salutions to the world's most significant energy and environmental sustainability challenges. We are living
this commitment, putting sustainability in action through our major global projects that will support the energy
transition.
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Human Capital Management

As of 30 September 2022, we had approximately 21,900 employees, of which over 90% were working full-time and
62% were located outside the United States. We have collective bargaining agreements with unions and works
councils at certain locations that expire on various dates over the next four years. Approximately 17% of our total
workforce is covered by such agreements. Overall, we have a corporate strategy supported by our leaders and
enabled by a positive organizational culture.

We believe our employees are our most valuable asset and are critical to our success as an organization. Our goal
is 1o be the safest, most diverse, and most profitable industrial gas company in the world, providing excellent service
to our customers. Integral to our success is the continued development of our 4S culture (Safety, Speed, Simplicity
and Self-Confidence) and creating a work environment where our employees fesl that they helong anrl matter, Qur
talent-related inilialives, including employee recruitment and development, diversity and inclusion, and
compensation and benefit programs, focus on building and retaining the world-class talent needed to execute our
two-pillar growth strategy and fulfill Air Products' higher purpose.

Safety

Safety is fundamental to who we are as a company. Safety is a shared value, and our empfoyees’ commitment to
safety is demonstrated in many ways every day. Safely is a critical component of everything we do, everywhere in
the world. Our goal is to be the safest industrial gas company in the world.

Diversity, Inclusion, and Belonging

Our 2022 Sustainability Report sets forth our announced goals to further increase the percentage of women and
U.S. minorities in professional and managerial roles and the recruitment and talent development strategies we have
in place to ensure we meet these ambitions. By 2025, Air Products aims to achieve at least 28 percent female
representation in the prefessional and managerial population globally, and at least 30 percent minority
representation in that same population in the United States. We established these goals following analysis of our
global employee representation metrics and future talent needs, as well as assessing industry benchmarks and
peer companies. For more information on these initiatives and to access our most recent Equal Employment
Opportunity CEQ-1 Report, please refer to our Diversity, Inclusion and Belonging website at www.airproducts.com/
company/diversity. The information posted on cur website is not incorporated by reference into, and does not form
part of, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Compensation

As detailed in our 2022 Sustainability Report, in order to create a diverse workplace, individuals must be
compensated fairly and equitably. A work environment where employees know they belong and matter includes fair
and equitable pay. Our pay practices apply equally to all employees irrespective of gender, race, religion, disability,
age, or any other form of personal difference. We strive to pay competitively in local markets where we do business
and compete for talent. We benchmark our compensation to ensure that we are keeping pace with the market to
provide competitive pay and benefits.

Seasonality
Our businesses are not subject to seasonal fluctuations to any material extent.

Inventories

We maintain inventory where required to facilitate the supply of products to customers on a reasonable delivery
schedule. inventory consists primarily of crude helium, industrial gas, and specialty gas inventories supplied to
customers through liquid bulk and packaged gases supply modes.

Customers

We do not have a homogeneous customer base or end market, and no single customer accounts for more than
10% of our consclidated sales. We do have concentrations of customers in specific industries, primarily refining,
chemicals, and electronics. Within each of these industries, we have several large-volume customers with long-term
contracts. A negative trend affecting one of these industries, or the loss of one of these major customers, although
not material to our consolidated revenue, could have an adverse impact on our financial results.

Governmental Contracts

Cur business is not subject to a government entity's renegotiation of profits or termination of contracts that would be
material to our business as a whole.



Available Information

All periodic and current reports, registration statements, proxy statements, and other filings that we are required to
file with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), including our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed ar fiirnished pursuant
to Scction 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"), are available free of charge through
our website at www.airproducts.com. Such documents are available as socon as reasonably practicable after
electronic filing of the material with the SEC. All such reports filed during the period covered by this report were
available on our website on the same day as filing. In addition, our filings with the SEC are available free of charge
on the SEC’'s website, www.sec.gov.

Our Executive Officers
Our executive officers and their respective positions and ages on 22 November 2022 follow. Information with
respect to offices held is stated in fiscal years.

Name Age Office

Seifi Ghasemi 78 Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer {(became Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer in 2014 and previously served as Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of Rockwood Holdings, Inc. from 2001 to 2014). Mr. Ghasemi is a
member and Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Chairman of the Executive
Committee of the Board of Directors.

Sean D. Major 58 Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary since 2017. Previously,
Mr. Major served as Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary for
Joy Global Inc. from 2007 to 2017.

Melissa N. Schaeffer 43 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (became Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer in August 2021). Ms. Schaeffer joined the Company in
2016 and most recently served as Vice President, Finance — GEMTE, Americas,
Middle East, and India from 2020 to 2021 and previously served as Vice President,
Chief Audit Executive from 2016 to 2020,

Dr. Samir J. Serhan 61 Chief Operating Officer (Executive Vice President since December 2016 and Chief
Cperating Officer since May 2020). Dr. Serhan served as President, Global HyCQ,
from 2014 to 2016 for Praxair Inc. From 2000-2014, he worked in leadership
positions in the U.S. and Germany for The Linde Group, including as Managing
Director of Linde Engineering from 2008-2014.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our operations are affected by various risks, many of which are beyond our control. In evaluating investment in the
Company and the forward-looking information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or presented
elsewhere from time to time, you should carefully consider the risk factors discussed below. Any of these risks could
have a material adverse effect on our business, operating resuits, financial condition, and the actual outcome of
matters as to which forward-looking statements are made and could adversely affect the value of an investment in
our securities. The risks described below are not all inclusive but are designed to highlight what we believe are
important factors to consider when evaluating our expectations. In addition to such risks, there may be additional
risks and uncertainties that adversely affect our business, performance, or financial condition in the future that are
not presently known, are not currently believed to be significant, or are not identified below because they are
common to all businesses.

Risks Related to Economic Conditions

The COVID-19 global pandemic may materially and adversely impact our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

The COVID-19 global pandemic, including resurgences and variants of the virus that causes COVID-19, and efforts
to reduce its spread have led, and may continue to lead to, significant changes in levels of economic activity and
significant disruption and volatility in g'obal markets. These factors have led, and may continue to lead, to reduced
demand for industrial gas products, particularly in our merchant business. In addition, COVID-19 may result in
reduced sales in our other businesses, lower returns for certain of our projects, and the potential delay or
cancellation of certain projects in our pipeline. These effects may be exacerbated by actions by health or other
governmental authorities to attempt to reduce the transmission of COVID-19,

Air Products | 2022 Annual Report
10



Further, to the extent COVID-19 adversely affects our business, financial condition, and results of operations and
global economic conditions more generally, it may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks
described herein.

Changes in global and regional economic conditions, the markets we serve, or the financial markets may
adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows.

Unfavorable conditions in the global economy or regional economies, the markets we serve or financial markets
may decrease the demand for our goods and services and adversely impact our revenues, operating results, and
cash flows.

Demand for our products and services depends in part on the general economic conditions affecting the countries
and markets in which we do business. Weak ecanomic conditions in certain geographies and changing supply and
demand balances in the markets we serve have negatively impacted demand for our products and services in the
past, including most recently due to COVID-19, and may do so in the future. In addition, our growth strategy is
largely based un demand for technologies and projects that limit the impact of global climate change. Demand for
our solutions could be negatively impacted if public and private actors reduce their focus on reducing carbon
emissions. Reduced demand for our products and services would have a negative impact on our revenues and
eamnings. In addition, reduced demand could depress sales, reduce our margins, constrain our operating flexibility
or reduce efficient utilizaticn of our manufacturing capacity, or result in charges which are unusual or nonrecurring.
Excess capacity in our manufacturing facilities or those of our competitors could decrease our ability to maintain
pricing and generate profits,

In addition, our operating results in one or more segments may be affected by uncertain or deteriorating economic
conditions for particular customer markets within a segment. A decline in the industries served by our customers or
adverse events or circumstances affecting individual customers can reduce demand for our products and services
and impair the ability of such customers to satisfy their obligations to us, resulting in uncollected receivables,
unanticipated contract terminations, project delays or the inability to recover plant investments, any of which may
negatively impact our financial results.

Weak overall demand or specific customer conditions may also cause customer shutdowns or defaults or otherwise
make us unable to operate facilities profitably and may force sale or abandonment of facilities and equipment or
prevent projects from coming on-stream when expected. These or other events associated with weak economic
conditions or specific market, product, or customer events may require us to record an impairment on tangible
assets, such as facilities and equipment, or intangible assets, such as intellectuai property or goodwiill, which would
have a negative impact on our financial results.

Our extensive international operations can be adversely impacted by operational, economic, political,
security, legal, and currency translation risks that could decrease profitability.

In fiscal year 2022, over 60% of our sales were derived from customers outside the United States and many of our
operations, suppliers, and empioyees are located outside the United States. Our operalions in foreign jurisdictions
may be subject to risks including exchange control regulations, import and trade restrictions, trade policy and other
potentially detrimental domestic and foreign governmental practices or policies affecting U.S. companies doing
business abroad. Changing economic and political conditions within foreign jurisdictions, strained relations between
countries, or the imposition of tariffs or international sanctions can cause fluctuations in demand, price volatility,
supply disruptions, or loss of property. The occurrence of any of these risks could have a material adverse impact
on our financial condition, results of operation, and cash flows.
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Our growth strategies depend in part on our ability to further penetrate markets outside the United States,
particularly in markets such as China, India, Indonesia, and the Middle East, and involve significantly larger and
more complex projects, including gasification and iarge-scale hydrogen projects, some in regions where there is the
potential for significant economic and political disruptions. We are actively investing large amounts of capital and
other resources, in snme cases through jeint ventures, in developing markets, which we believe to have high growth
potential. Qur operations in these markets may be subject to greater risks than those faced by our operations in
mature economies, including political and economic instability, project delay or abandonment due to unanticipated
government actions, inadequate investment in infrastructure, undeveloped property rights and legal systems,
unfamiliar regulatory environments, relationships with local partners, language and cultural differences and
increased difficulty recruiting, training and retaining qualified employees. In addition, our properties and contracts in
these locations may be suhject to seizure and cancellation, respeclively, without full compensation for loss.
Suceessful operation of particular facilities or execution of projects may be disrupted by civil unrest, acts of war,
sabotage or terrorism, and other local security concerns. Such concerns may require us to incur greater costs for
security or require us to shut down operations for a period of time.

Furthermore, because the majority of our revenue is generated from sales outside the United States, we are
exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Our business is primarily exposed to translational
currency risk as the results of our foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars at current exchange rates
throughcut the fiscal period. Our policy is to minimize cash flow volatility from changes in currency exchange rates.
We choose not to hedge the translation of our foreign subsidiaries’ earnings into dollars. Accordingly, reported sales,
net earnings, cash flows, and fair values have been, and in the future will be, affected by changes in foreign
exchange rates. For a more detailed discussion of currency exposure, see ltem 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk, below.

Risks Related to Our Business
Risks related to the approval, execution, and operation of our projects, particularly with respect to our

largest projects. may adversely affect our operations or financial results.

A significant and growing portion of our business involves clean hydrogen, carbon capture, gasification, and other
large-scale projects that involve challenging engineering, procurement and construction phases that may last
several years and involve the investment of billions of dollars. These projects are technically complex, often reliant
on significant interaction with government authorities and face significant financing, development, operational and
reputational risks. These projects may also be subject to complex government approvals, as well as legal or
regulatory challenges by government authorities or third parties. Delays in receiving required approvals or related to
litigation could require us to delay or abandon certain projects, which may result in the incurrence of additional
expense, the loss of invested proceeds and reputational damage.

We may encounter difficulties in engineering, delays in designs or materials provided by the customer or a third
party, equipment and materials delivery delays, schedule changes, customer scope changes, delays related to
obtaining regulatory permits and rights-of-way, inability to find adequate sources of labor in the locations where we
are bhuilding new plants, weather-related delays, delays by customers' contractors in completing their porticn of a
project, technical or transportation difficulties, cost overruns, supply difficulties, geopolitical risks and other factors,
many of which are beyond our control, that may impact our ability tc complete a project within the original delivery
schedule. In some cases, delays and additional costs may be substantial, and we may be required to cancel a
project and/or compensate the customer for the delay. We may not be able to recover any of these costs. In
addition, in some cases we seek financing for large projects and face market risk associated with the availability and
terms of such financing. These financing arrangements may require that we comply with certain perfermance
requirements which, if not met, could result in default and restructuring costs or other losses. All of these factors
could also negatively impact cur reputation or relationships with our customers, suppliers and other third parties,
any of which could adversely affect our ability to secure new projects in the future.

The operation of our facilities, pipelines, and delivery systems inherently entails hazards that require continuous
oversight and control, such as pipeline leaks and ruptures, fire, explosions, toxic releases, mechanical failures,
vehicle accidents, or cyber incidents. If operational risks materialize, they could result in loss of life, damage to the
environment, or l0ss of production, all of which could negatively impact our ongoing operations, reputation, financial
results, and cash flows. In addition, our operating results are dependent on the continued operation of our
production facilities and our ability to meet customer requirements, which depend, in part, on our ability to properly
maintain and replace aging assets.
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We are subject to extensive government requliation in the jurisdictions in which we do business.
Regulations addressing, among other things, import/export restrictions, anti-bribery and corruption, and
taxes, can negatively impact our financial condition, results of operation. and cash flows.

We are subject to government regulation in the United States and in the foreign jurisdictions where we conduct
business. The application of laws and regulations to our business is sometimes unclear. Compliance with laws and
regulations may involve significant costs or require changes in business practices that could result in reduced
profitability. If there is a determination that we have failed to comply with applicable laws or regulations, we may be
subject to penalties or sanctions that could adversely impact our reputation and financial results. Compliance with
changes in laws or regulations can result in increased operating costs and require additional, unplanned capital
expenditures. Export controls or other regulatory restrictions could prevent us from shipping our products to and
from some marknts or increase the coust of doing so. Changes in tax laws and regulations and international tax
treaties could affect the financial results of our businesses. Increasingly aggressive enforcement of anti-bribery and
anti-corruption requirements, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the United Kingdom Bribery Act and
the China Anti-Linfair Competition Law, could subject us lu uriminal or civil sanctions if a violation is deemed to have
occurred. In additicn, we are subject to laws and sanctions imposed by the U.S. and other jurisdictions where we do
business that may prohibit us, or certain of our affiliates, from doing business in certain countries, or restricting the
kind of business that we may conduct. Such restrictions may provide a competitive advantage to competitors who
are not subject to comparable restrictions or prevent us from taking advantage of growth opportunities.

Further, we cannot guarantee that our internal controls and compliance systems will always protect us from acts
committed by employees, agents, business partners or that businesses that we acquire would not viclate U.S. and/f
or noh-U.S. laws, including the laws governing payments to government officials, bribery, fraud, kickbacks and false
claims, pricing, sales and marketing practices, conflicts of interest, competition, export and import compliance,
money laundering, and data privacy. Any such improper actions or allegations of such acts could damage our
reputation and subject us to civil or criminal investigations in the U.S. and in other jurisdictions and related
sharehaolder lawsuits, could lead to substantial civil and criminal, monetary and non-monetary penalties, and could
cause us to incur significant legal and investigatory fees. In addition, the government may seek to hold us liable as a
successor for violations committed by companies in which we invest or that we acquire.

We may be unable to successfully identify, execute or effectively integrate acquisitions, manage our joint
ventures, or effectively disentangle divested businesses.

Our ability to grow revenue, earnings, and cash flow at anticipated rates depends in part on our ability to identify,
successfully acquire and integrate businesses and assets at appropriate prices, and realize expected growth,
synergies, and operating efficiencies. We may not be able to complete transactions on favorable terms, on a timely
basis or at all. In addition, our results of operations and cash flows may be adversely impacted by the failure of
acquired businesses or assets to meet expected returns, the failure to integrate acquired businesses, the inability to
dispose of non-core assets and businesses on satisfactory terms and conditions, and the discovery of unanticipated
liabilities or other problems in acquired businesses or assets for which we lack adequate contractual protections or
insurance. In addition, we may incur asset impairment charges related to acquisitions that do not meet expectations.

In addition, some of our largest projects involve joint ventures. These arrangements may involve significant risks
and uncertainties, including our ability to cooperate with our strategic partners, our strategic partners having
interests or goals that are inconsistent with ours, and the potential that our strategic partners may be unable to meet
their economic or other obligations to the joint venture, which may negatively impact the expected benefits of the
joint venture and cause us to incur additional expense or suffer reputational damage. In addition, due to the nature
of these arrangements, we may have limited ability to direct or influence the management of the joint venture, which
may limit our ability to assist and oversee the design and implementation of the joint venture’s business as well as
its accounting, legal, governance, human resources, information technology, and other administrative systems. This
may expose us to additional risks and uncertainties because we may be dependent upon and subject to liability,
losses, or reputational damage relating to systems, controls, and personnel that are not under our control. These
risks may be augmented when the joint venture is operating outside the United States due to differences in
language, culture, and regulation, as well as the factors listed above that are relevant to our international
operations.
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We continually assess the strategic fit of cur existing businesses and may divest businesses that are deemed not to
fit with our strategic plan or are not achieving the desired return on investment. These transactions pose risks and
challenges that could negatively impact our business and financial statements. For example, when we decide to sell
or otherwise dispose of a business or assets, we may be unable o do so on satisfactory terms within our
anticipated time frame ar at all. In addition, divestitures or olher dispositions may dilute our earnings per share, have
other adverse financial and accounting impacts, distract management, and give rise to disputes with buyers. In
addition, we have agreed, and may in the future agree, to indemnify buyers against known and unknown contingent
liabilities. Our financial results could be impacted adversely by claims under these indemnification provisions.

The security of our information technology systems could be compromised, which could adversely affect
our ability to operate.

We depend on information technology to enable us to operate safely and efficiently and interface with our customers
as well as to maintain our internal control environment and financial reporting accuracy and efficiency. Our
information technclogy capabilities are delivered throtigh a combination of internal and exlernal services and service
providers. If we do not allocate and effectively manage the resources necessary to build and sustain the proper
technology infrastructure, we could be subject to transaction errors, processing inefficiencies, the loss of customers,
business disruptions, property damage, or the loss of or damage to our confidential business information due to a
security breach. In addition, our information technoicgy systems may be damaged, disrupted or shut down due to
attacks by computer hackers, computer viruses, employee error or malfeasance, power outages, hardware failures,
telecommunication or utility failures, catastrophes or other unforeseen events, and in any such circumstances cur
system redundancy and other disaster recovery planning may be ineffective or inadequate. Security breaches of our
systems (or the systems of our customers, suppliers or other business partners) could result in the

misappropriation, destruction or unautherized disclosure of confidential information or personal data belonging to us
or to our employees, partners, customers or suppliers, and may subject us 10 legal liability.

As with most large systems, our information technology systems have in the past been, and in the future likely will
be: subject to computer viruses, malicious codes, unauthorized access and other cyber-attacks, and we expect the
sophistication and frequency of such attacks to continue to increase. To date, we are not aware of any significant
impact on our operations or financial results from such attempts; however, unauthorized access could disrupt our
business operations, result in the loss of assets, and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, or results of operations. Any of the attacks, breaches or other disruptions or damage described above
could: interrupt our operations at one or more sites; delay producticn and shipments; result in the theft of our and
our customers’ intellectual property and trade secrets; damage customer and business partner relationships and our
reputation; result in defective products or services, physical damage to facilities, pipelines or delivery systems,
including those we own or operate for thir¢ parties, legal claims and proceedings, liability and penalties under
privacy laws, or increased costs for security and remediation; or raise concerns regarding our internal control
environment and internal control over financial reporting. Each of these consequences could adversely affect our
business, reputation and our financial statements.

Our business involves the use, storage, and transmission of information about our employees, vendors, and
customers. The protection of such information, as well as our proprietary information, is critical to us. The regulatory
environment surrounding information security and privacy is increasingly demanding, with the frequent impaosition of
new and constantly changing requirements. We have established policies and procedures to help protect the
security and privacy of this information. We also, from time to time, export sensitive customer data and technical
information to recipients outside the United States. Breaches of our security measures or the accidental Ioss,
inadvertent disclosure, or unapproved dissemination of proprietary informaticn or sensitive or confidential data
about us or our customers, including the potential loss or disclosure of such information or data as a result of fraud,
trickery, or other forms of deception, could expose us, our customers, or the individuals affected to a risk of loss or
misuse of this information, which could ultimately result in litigation and potential legal and financial liability. These
events could also damage our reputation or otherwise harm our business.
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Interruption in ordinary sources of raw material or energy supply or an inability to recover increases in
energy and raw material costs from customers could result in lost sales or reduced profitability.
Hydrocarbons, including natural gas, are the primary feedstock for the production of hydrogen, carbon monoxide,
and syngas. Energy, including electricity, natural gas, and diesel fuel for delivery trucks, is the largest cost
component of our business. Because our industrial gas facilities use substantial amounts of electricity, inflation and
energy price fluctuations could materially impact our revenues and earnings. A disruption in the supply of energy,
components, or raw materials, whether due to market conditions, legislative or regulatory actions, the COVID-19
pandemic, natural events, or other disruption, could prevent us from meeting our contractual commitments and
harm our business and financial results.

Our supply of crude helium for purification and resale is largely dependent upon natural gas production by crude
helium suppliers. Lower natural gas production resulting from natural gas pricing dynamics, supplier operating or
transportation issues, or other interruptions in sales from crude helium suppliers, can reduce our supplies of crude
helium avaiiable for progessing and resaie o customers.

We typically contract to pass-through cost increases in energy and raw materials to customers, but such cost pass-
through results in declining margins, and cost variability can negatively impact our other operating results. For
example, we may be unable to raise prices as quickly as costs rise, or competitive pressures may prevent full
recovery of such costs. In addition, increases in energy or raw material costs that cannot be passed on to
customers for competitive or other reasons may negatively impact our revenues and eamings. Even where costs
are passed through, price increases can cause lower sales volume.

New technologies create performance risks that could impact our financial results or reputation.

We are continually developing and implementing new technologies and product offerings. Existing technologies are
being implemented in products and designs or at scales beyond our experience base. These technological
expansions can create nontraditional performance risks to our operations. Failure of the technologies to work as
predicted, or unintended consequences of new designs or uses, could lead to cost overruns, project delays,
financial penalties, or damage to our reputation. We may face difficulties marketing products produced using new
technologies including, but not limited to, green hydrogen, which may adversely impact our sales and financial
results. In addition, certain large-scale projects may contain processes or technologies that we have not operated at
the same scale or in the same combination, and although such projects generally include technolegies and
processes that have been demonstrated previously by others, such technologies or processes may be new to us
and may introduce new risks to our operations. Additionally, there is also a risk that our new technologies may
become obsolete and replaced by other market alternatives. Performance difficulties on these larger projects may
have a material adverse effect on our operations and financial results. In addition, performance challenges may
adversely affect our reputation and our ability to obtain future contracts.

Protecting our intellectyal property is critical to our technological development and we may suffer
competitive harm from infringement on such rights.

As we develop new technclogies, it is critical that we protect our intellectual property assets against third-party
infringement. We own a number of patenis and cther forms of intellectual property related to our products and
services. As we develop new technologies there is a risk that our patent applications may not be granted, or we may
not receive sufficient protection of our proprietary interests. We may also expend considerable resources in
defending our patents against third-party infringement. It is critical that we protect our proprietary interests to
prevent competitive harm.

Legal and Regulatory Risks

Legis]ative, requlatory, societal, and market efforts to address global climate change may impact our
business and create financial risk.

We are the world's leading supplier of hydrogen, the primary use of which is the production of ultra-low sulfur
transportation fuels that have significantly reduced transportation emissions and helped improve human health. To
make the high volumes of hydrogen needed by our customers, we use steam methane reforming, which produces
carbon dioxide. In addition, gasification enables the conversion of lower value feedstocks into cleaner energy and
value-added products; however, our gasification projects also produce carbon dioxide. Some of our operations are
within jurisdictions that have or are developing regulatory regimes gaverning GHG emissions, including CO2, which
may lead to direct and indirect costs on our operations. Furthermore, some jurisdictions have various mechanisms
to target the power sector to achieve emission reductions, which often resulit in higher power costs.
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Increased public concern and governmental action may result in more international, U.S. federal and/or regional
requirements to reduce or mitigate the effects of GHG emissions or increased demand for technologies and projects
to limit the impact of global climate change. Although uncertain, these developments could increase our costs
related to consumption of electric power, hydrogen production and application of our gasification technology. We
believe we will be able to mitigate some of the incieased costs through contractual terms, but the lack of definitive
legislation or regulatory requirements prevents an accurate estimate of the long-term impact these measures will
have on our operations. Any legislation or governmental action that limits or taxes GHG emissions could negatively
impact our growth, increase our operating costs, or reduce demand for certain of our products.

Our operations may present a safety risk to our employees.

Notwithstanding our emphasis on the safety of our employees and contractors and the precautions we take related
to health and safety, we may be unable to avoid safety incidents relating to our operations that result in injuries or
deaths. Certain safety incidents may result in legal or regulatory action that could result in increased expenses or
reputational damage. We maintain workers’ compensation insurance tc address the risk of incurring material
liabilities for injuries or deaths, but there can be no assurance that the insurance coverage will be adequate or will
continue to be available on terms acceptable to us, or at all, which could result in material liabilities to us for any
injuries or deaths. Changes to federal, state, and local employee health and safety regulations, and legislative,
regulatory, or societal responses to safety incidents may result in heightened regulations or public scrutiny that may
increase our compliance costs or result in reputational damage.

Qur financial results may be affected by various legal and regulatory proceedings. inctuding antitrust, tax.
environmental, or other matters.

We are subject to litigation and regulatory investigations and proceedings in the normal course of business and
could become subject to additional claims in the future, some of which could be material. While we seek to limit our
liability in our commercial contractual arrangements, there are no guarantees that each contract will contain suitable
limitations of liability or that limitations of liability will be enforceable. Also, the outcome of existing legal proceedings
may differ from our expectations because the cutcomes of litigation, including regulatory matters, are often difficult
to predict reliably. Various factars or developments can lead us to change current estimates of liabilities and related
insurance receivables, where applicable, or make such estimates for matters previously not susceptible to
reasonable estimates, such as a significant judicial ruling or judgment, a significant settlement, significant regulatory
developments, or changes in applicable law. A future adverse ruling, settlement, or unfavorable development could
result in charges that could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, and cash
flows in any particular period.

Costs and expenses resulting from compliance with environmental regulations may negatively impact our
operations and financial results.

We are subject to extensive federal, state, local, and foreign envirenmental and safety laws and regulations
concerning, among other things, emissions in the air; discharges to land and water; and the generation, handling,
treatment, and disposal of hazardous waste and other materials. We take our environmental responsibilities very
seriously, but there is a risk of adverse environmental impact inherent in our manufacturing operations and in the
transportation of our products. Future developments and more stringent environmental regulations may require us
to make additional unforeseen environmental expenditures. In addition, laws and regulations may require significant
expenditures for environmental protection equipment, compliance, and remediation. These additional costs may
adversely affect our financial results. For a more detailed description of these matters, see ltem 1, Business—
Environmental Regulation, above.

A change of tax law in key jurisdictions could result in a material increase in our tax expense.

The multinational nature of our business subjects us to taxation in the United States and numerous foreign
jurisdictions. Due to economic and political conditions, tax rates in various jurisdictions may be subject to significant
change. Qur future effective tax rates could be affected by changes in the mix of earnings in countries with differing
statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, or changes in tax laws or their
interpretation.

Changes to income tax laws and regulations in any of the jurisdictions in which we operate, or in the interpretation
of such laws, could significantly increase our effective tax rate and adversely impact our financial condition, results
of operations, or cash flows. Various levels of government, including the U.S. federal government, are increasingly
focused on tax reform and other legislative action to increase tax revenue. Further changes in tax laws in the U.S3.
or foreign jurisdictions where we operate could have a materia!l adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, or financial condition.
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General Risk Factors

Catastrophic events could disrupt our operations or the operations of our suppliers or customers, having a
negative impact on our business, financial results, and cash flows.

Qur operations could be impacted by catastrophic events outside our control, including severe weather conditions
such as hurricanes, floods, earthquakes, storms, epidemics, pandemics, acts of war, and terrorism. Any such event
could cause a serious business disruption that could affect our ability to produce and distribute products and
possibly expose us to third-party liability claims. Additionally, such events could impact our suppliers, customers,
and partners, which could cause energy and raw materials to be unavailable to us, or our customers to be unable to
purchase or accept our products and services. Any such occurrence could have a negative impact on our
Operations and financial results.

The United Kingdom'’s (“UK") exit from European Union (“EU”) membership could adversely affect our
European Operations.

Although the UK's exit from EU membership on 31 January 2021 ("Brexit") did not result in material disruptions to
custormer demand, our relationships with customers and suppliers, or our Eurcpean business, the ultimate effects of
Brexit on us are still difficult to predict. Adverse conseqguences from Brexit may include greater restrictions on
imports and exports between the UK and EU members and increased regulatory complexities. Any of these factors
could adversely affect customer demand, our relationships with customers and suppliers, and our European
business overall.

Inability to compete effectively in a segment could adversely impact sales and financial performance.

We face strong competition from large global competitors and many smaller regional competitors in many of our
business segments. Introduction by competitors of new technologies, competing products, or additional capacity
could weaken demand for, or impact pricing of our products, negatively impacting financial results. In addition,
competitors’ pricing policies could affect our profitability or market share.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

We have not received any written comments from the Commission staff that remain unresolved.

Item 2. Properties

Air Products and Chemicals, Inc. owns its principal administrative offices located at the Company’s new global
headquarters and co-located research and development facility in Allentown, Pennsylvania, as well as regional
offices in Hersham, England; Medellin, Colombia; and Santiago, Chile. We lease the principal administrative offices
in Shanghai, China; Pune, india; Vadodara, India; and Dhahran, Saudi Arabia. We lease administrative offices in the
United States, Canada, Spain, Malaysia, and China primarily for cur Finance and Business Services organization.

Descriptions of the properties used by our five business segments are provided below. We believe that our facilities
are suitable and adequate for our current and anticipated future levels of operation.

Americas

This busiress segment currently operates from over 450 production and distribution facilities in North and South
America. Approximately 25% of these facilities are located on owned property and 10% are integrated sites that
serve dedicated customers as well as merchant customers. We have sufficient property rights and permits for the
ongeing operation of our pipeline systems in the Gulf Coast, California, and Arizona in the United States and Alberta
and Ontario in Canada. Management and sales support is based in our Allentown, Medellin, and Santiago offices
referred to above, and at 12 leased properties located throughout North and South America.

Asia

This business segment currently operates from over 250 production and distribution facilities within Asia,
approximately 25% of which are on owned property or long-duration term grants. We have sufficient property rights
and permits for the ongoing operation of our pipeline systems in China, South Korea, Taiwan, Malaysia, Singapore,
and Indonesia. Management and sales support for this business segment is based in Shanghai, China, and Kuala
Lumpur, Malaysia, and in 30 leased office locations throughout the region.
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Europe

This business segment currently operates from over 200 production and distribution facilities in Europe,
approximately one-third of which are on owned property. We have sufficient property rights and permits for the
ongoing operation of our pipeline systems in the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, Belgium, France, and Germany.
Management and sales support for this business segment is based in Hersham, England, referred to above;
Barcelona, Spain; and at 15 leased regional office sites and 10 leased local office sites, located throughout the
region.

Middle East and India

This business segment currently operates from over 15 production and distribution facilities in the Middle Fast and
India, all of which arc lcaschold propertivs. Management and sales support for this business segment are based in
Dharan, Saudi Arabia; Dubai, United Arab Emirates; and Pune, India; as well as nine leased local office sites
located throughout the region.

Corporate and other

This business segment includes our sale of equipment businesses for which equipment is manufactured in Missouri
in the United States and Shanghai, China. The LNG business operates a manufacturing facility in Florida in the
United States with management, engineering, and sales support based in the Allentown offices referred to above.
The Gardner Cryogenic business operates at facilities in Pennsylvania and Kansas in the United States. The
Rotoflow business operates manufacturing and service facilities in Texas and Pennsylvania in the United States with
management, engineering, and sales support based in the Allentown offices referred to above and a nearby leased

office.

Research and development activities are primarily conducted at owned locations in the United States, the United
Kingdom, and Saudi Arabia.

Helium is processed at multiple sites in the United States and then distributed to and from transfill sites globally.

Our Corporate and other segment also has management, sales, engineering support, and corporate administrative
functions that are based in our administrative offices referred to above.

item 3. Legal Proceedings

In the normal course of business, we and our subsidiaries are involved in varicus legal proceedings, including
commercial, competition, environmental, intellectual property, regulatory, product liability, and insurance matters.
Although litigation with respect to these matters is routine and incidental to the conduct of our business, such
litigation could result in large monetary awards, especially if compensatory and/or punitive damages are awarded.
However, we believe that litigation currently pending to which we are a party will be resolved without any material
adverse effect on our financial position, earnings, or cash flows.

From time to time, we are also involved in proceedings, investigations, and audits involving govermmental
authorities in connection with environmental, health, safety, competition, and tax matters.

We are a party to proceedings under CERCLA, RCRA, and similar state and foreign environmental laws relating to
the designation of certain sites for investigation or remediation. Presently there are 30 sites on which a final
settlement has not been reached where we, usually along with others, have been designated a potentially
responsible party by the Environmental Protection Agency or is otherwise engaged in investigation or remediation,
including cleanup activity at certain of its current and former manufacturing sites. We do not expect that any sums
we may have to pay in connection with these environmental matters would have a material adverse impact on our
consolidated financial position. Additional information on our environmental exposure is included under ltem 1,
Business—Envircnmental Regulation, and Note 16, Commitments and Contingencies, to the consolidated financial

statements.

In September 2010, the Brazilian Administrative Council for Economic Defense ("CADE") issued a decision against
our Brazilian subsidiary, Air Products Brasil Ltda., and several other Brazilian industrial gas companies for alleged
anticompetitive activities. CADE imposed a civil fine of R$179.2 million (approximately $33 million at 30 September
2022) on Air Products Brasil Lida. This fine was based an a recommendation by a unit of the Brazilian Ministry of
Justice, following an investigation beginning in 2003, which alleged violaticn of competiticn laws with respect to the
sale of industrial and medical gases. The fines are based on a percentage of our fotal revenue in Bragzil in 2003.
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We have denied the allegations made by the authorities and filed an appeal in October 2010 with the Brazilian
courts. On 6 May 2014, our appeal was granted and the fine against Air Products Brasil Ltda. was dismissed. CADE
has appealed that ruling and the matter remains pending. We, with advice of our outside legal counsel, have
assessed the status of this matter and have conciuded that, although an adverse final judgment after exhausting all
appeals is possihle, such a judgment is not probable. As a result, no provision has been made in the consolidated
financial statements. In the event of an adverse final judgment, we estimate the maximum possibie loss to be the
full amount of the fine of R$179.2 million {(approximately $33 million at 30 September 2022) plus interest accrued
thereon until final disposition of the proceedings.

Additionally, Winter Storm Uri, a severe winter weather storm in the U.S. Gulf Coast in February 2021, disrupted our
operations and caused power and natural gas prices to spike significantly in Texas. We remain in litigation of a
dispute regarding energy rmanagement services related to the impact of this event, and other disputes may arise
from such power price increases. In addition, legislative action may affect power supply and energy management
charges. While it is reasonably possible that we could incur additional costs related to power supply and energy
management services in Texas related to the winter storm, it is too early to estimate potential losses, if any, given
significant unknowns resulting from the unusual nature of this event.

Other than the matters discussed above, we do not currently believe there are any legal proceedings, individually or
in the aggregate, that are reasonably possible to have a material impact on our financial condition, results of
operations, or cash flows. However, a future charge for regulatory fines or damage awards couid have a significant
impact on our net income in the period in which it is recorded.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "APD." As of 31 October 2022,
there were 4,599 record holders of our common stock.

Cash dividends on our common stock are paid quarterly. It is our expectation that we will continue to pay cash
dividends in the future at comparable or increased levels. The Board of Directors determines whether to declare
dividends and the timing and amount based on financial condition and other factors it deems relevant. Dividend
information for each quarter of fiscal years 2022 and 2021 is summarized below:

2022 2021
Fourth quarter $1.62 $1.50
Third quarter $1.62 $1.50
Second quarter $1.62 $1.50
First quarter $1.50 $1.34
Total $6.36 $5.84

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer

On 15 September 2011, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $1.0 billion of our outstanding
common stock. This program does not have a stated expiration date. We repurchase shares pursuant to

Rules 10b5-1 and 10b-18 under the Exchange Act through repurchase agreements established with one or more
brokers. There were no purchases of stock during fiscal year 2022. As of 30 September 2022, $485.3 million in
share repurchase authorization remained. Any future purchases will be completed at our discretion while
maintaining sufficient funds for investing in our business and pursuing growth opportunities.
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Performance Graph

The performance graph below compares the five-year cumulative returns of our common stock with those of the
Standard & Poor’s 500 Index {"S&P 500 index"} and the Standard & Poor’'s 500 Materials index ("S&F 500
Materials Index"). The figures assume an initial investment of $100 and the reinvestment of all dividends.

COMPARISON OF FIVE YEAR CUMULATIVE SHAREHOLDER RETURN
Air Products & Chemicals, Inc., S&P 500 Index, and S&P 500 Materials Index
Comparative Growth of a $100 Investment
(Assumes Reinvestment of All Dividends)
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—&— Air Products & Chemicals, Inc. — ® - S&P 500 index S&P 500 Materials Index
(APDY} (SPX) (S5MATR)
Sept 2017 | Sept 2018 | Sept 2019 | Sept 2020 | Sept 2021 | Sept 2022
Air Products & Chemicals, Inc. 100 114 155 213 187 174
S&P 500 Index 100 118 123 141 184 155
S&P 500 Materials Index 100 104 107 120 152 133

ltem 6. [Reserved]
Not applicable.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations

Business Overview 22
2022 in Summary 22
2023 Outlock 25
Results of Operations 25
Reconciliations of Non-GAAP Financial Measures 35
Liguidity and Capital Resources 41
Pension Benefits 44
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 46

This Management's Discussion and Analysis contains “forward-looking statements” within the safe harbor provisions
of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including statements about business outlook. These forward-
looking statements are based on management's expectations and assumptions as of the date of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K and are not guarantees of future performance. Actual performance and financial results may differ
materially from projections and estimates expressed in the forward-looking statements because of many factors not
anticipated by management, including, without limitation, those described in "Forward-Looking Statements” and
Item 1A, Risk Facfors, of this Annual Report.

Qur Management's Discussion and Analysis should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and the accompanying notes contained in this Annual Repert. Unless otherwise stated, financial
information is presented in mitlions of dollars, except for per share data. Except for net income, which includes the
results of discontinued operations, financial information is presented on a continuing operations basis.

The financial measures discussed below are presented in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles ("GAAP™), except as noled. We present certain financial measures on an "adjusted,” or "non-GAAP,"” basis
because we believe such measures, when viewed together with financial results computed in accordance with
GAAP, provide a more complete understanding of the factors and trends affecting our historical financial
performance. For each non-GAAP financial measure, including adjusted diluted earnings per share ("EPS"),
adjusted EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA margin, adjusted effective tax rate, and capital expenditures, we present a
reconciliation to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP. These
reconciliations and explanations regarding the use of non-GAAP measures are presented under the heading
“Reconciliations of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” beginning on page 35.

Comparisons included within the "Results of Operations” section below are for fiscal years 2022 versus ("vs.") 2021
and 2021 vs. 2020. We have updated our segment information to reflect the recrganization of our reporting
segments effective 1 October 2021. We provide reconciliations for any adjusted measures discussed within the
"Reconciliations of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section. Comparisons for all other sections within this
Management’s Discussion and Analysis are for fiscal years 2022 vs. 2021, while fiscal year 2021 vs. 2020
comparisons are available within Part |1, Item 7, Management's Discussicn and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Resuilts of Operations, of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 30 September 2021, which was
filed with the SEC on 18 November 2021.

For information concerning activity with our related parties, refer to Note 22, Supplemental information, to the
consolidated financial statements.

Russia's Invasion of Ukraine

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022, we recorded a noncash charge of $73.7 (361.0 after tax, or $0.27 per
share) associated with the divestiture of our small industrial gas business in Russia, which generated annual sales
of less than $25 in our Europe segment.

During the second quarter of fiscal year 2022, we suspended construction of a plant in Ukraine. Our ability to
complete the project and recover the carrying value of the assels, which was approximately $45 as of 30 September
2022, could be impacted by future events. Annual sales generated from our business in Ukraine were less than $5
in our Europe segment.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Air Products and Chemicails, Inc., a Delaware corporaticn originally founded in 1940, has built a reputation for its
innovative cutture, operational excellence, and commitment to safety and the environment. Our passionate,
talented, and committed employees are from diverse backgrounds, but are driven by our higher purpose to create
innovative solutions that benefit the environment, enhance sustainability, and address the challenges facing
customers, communities, and the world.

We offer a unique portfolio of products, services, and solutions that include atmospheric gases, process and
specialty gases, equipment, and related services. Focused on energy, environmental, and emerging markets, we
serve cusluimers in dozens ot industries, including refining, chemicals, metais, electronics, manufacturing, medical,
and food. Our gases, equipment, and applications expertise enable our customers to improve their sustainability
performance by increasing productivity, producing better quality products, reducing energy use, and lowering
emissions.

We also develop, engineer, build, own, and operate some of the world's largest industrial gas and carbon-capture
projects, supplying clean hydrogen that will support global transportation, industrial markets, and the broader energy
transition away from fossil fuels. We have built leading positions in several growth markets, such as hydrogen,
helium, and liquefied natural gas ("LNG"} process technology and equipment, and provide turbomachinery,
membrane systems, and cryogenic containers globally.

With operations in over 50 countries, in fiscal year 2022 we had sales of $12.7 billion and assets of $27.2 billion.
During the fiscal year ended 30 September 2022, we managed our operations, assessed performance, and
reported earnings under the following five reporting segments:

*+  Americas;

*  Asia;

* Europe;

* Middle East and India; and
*  Corporate and other

This Management's Discussion and Analysis discusses our resulis based on these operations. Refer to Note 23,
Business Segment and Geographic Information, to the consolidated financial statements for additional details on
our reportable business segments.

2022 IN SUMMARY

Our fiscal year 2022 results demonstrate our employees' commitment to excellence and service to our customers as
our earnings grew despite economic headwinds. Our on-site business continued to provide stable cash flow due to
the siructure of our contracts, which generally contain fixed monthly charges and/or minimum purchase
requirements. These contracts also protected us from energy price fluctuations, particularly in Europe, due to pass-
through provisions that allow us to recover the cost of energy. Our merchant business also successfully
implemented pricing actions to recover higher costs, including soaring energy prices, in our three largest regional
segments and across most major preduct lines.

We also made progress on our growth strategy, including completion of an initial investment in the Jazan Integrated
Gasification and Power Company ("JIGPC") joint venture. JIGPC acquired the first phase of assets for the
gasification and power project and began contributing to our resuits through equity affiliates' income in late October
2021,

We shared the cash flows generated during fiscal year 2022 with our investors by increasing the quarterly dividend
on our common stock to $1.62 per share, representing an 8% increase, or $0.12 per share, from the previous
dividend of $1.50 per share. This is the 40™ consecutive year that we have increased our quarterly dividend.
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Fiscal Year 2022 Highlights

Sales of $12,698.6 increased 23%, or $2,375.6, due to higher energy cost pass-through to customers of 13%,
higher volumes of 8%, and higher pricing of 6%, partially offset by unfavorable currency of 4% due to the
strengthening of the U.S. Dollar. Volume growth was driven by recovery in hydrogen, new assets, better
merchant dermand, and higher sale of equiprment project activity. In our merchant business, we successfully
implemented pricing actions across the regional segments, particularly in Europe, to offset unprecedented
power and fuel costs.

Operating income of $2,338.8 increased 3%, or $57.4, as our pricing actions and higher volumes overcame
unfavorable costs, including the loss on the divestiture of our Russia business, and currency. Operating
margin of 18.4% decrrased 370 basis puinls (bp) from the prior year, primarily due to higher energy cost
pass-through to custorners and unfavorable costs.

Equity affiliates’ income of $481.5 increased 64%, or $187.4, driven by the JIGPC joint venture. JIGPC began
contributing to our results in the Middle East and India segment in late October 2021.

Net income of $2,266.5 increased 7%, or $151.6, primarily due to higher pricing, net of power and fuel costs,
higher volumes, and higher equity affiliates’ income driven by JIGPC, partially offset by higher costs. Net
income margin of 17.8% decreased 270 bp, primarily due to higher energy cost pass-through to customers,
as unfavorable costs ollset the impact of higher equity affiliates' income.

Adjusted EBITDA of $4,247.0 increased 9%, or $363.8, while adjusted EBITDA margin of 33.4% decreased
420 bp.

Difuted EPS of $10.08 increased 11%, or $0.96 per share, and adjusted diluted EPS of $10.41 increased
15%, or $1.39 per share. A summary table of changes in diluted EPS is presented below.
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Changes in Diluted EPS Attributable to Air Products

The per share impacts presented in the table below were calculated independently and do not sum to the totai

change in diluted EPS due to rounding.

Increase
Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 2021  (Decrease)
Total Diluted EPS $10.14 $9.43 $0.71
Less: Diluted EPS from income from discontinued operations 0.06 0.32 (0.26)
Diluted EPS From Continuing Operations $10.08 $9.12 $0.96
Operating impacts
Underlying business
Volume $0.80
Price, net of variable costs 0.81
Other costs (0.84)
Currency (0.24)
Facility closure 0.08
Business and asset actions (0.27)
Gain on exchange with joint venture partner (0.12)
Totai Operating Impacts $0.22
Other Impacts
Equity affiliates’ income, excluding item below $0.74
Equity method investment impairment charge {0.05)
Interest expense 0.05
Other non-operating income/expense, net (0.04)
Change in effective tax rale, excluding discrete item below 0.09
Tax election benefit and other (0.05)
Noncontrolling interests 0.02
Total Other Impacts $0.76
Total Change in Diluted EPS From Continuing Operations $0.96
% Change from pricr year 11%
Increase
Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 2021 (Decrease)
Diluted EPS From Continuing Operations $10.08 $9.12 $0.96
Facility closure — 0.08 (0.08)
Business and asset actions 0.27 — 0.27
Gain on exchange with joint venture partner —_ (0.12) 0.12
Equity method investment impairment charge 0.05 — 0.05
Tax election benefit and other — {C.05) 0.05
Adjusted Diluted EPS From Continuing Operations $10.41 $9.02 $1.39
15%

% Change from prior year
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OUTLOOK

The guidance helow should be read in conjunction with the Forward-Looking Statements of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

We are coinmitted to efficiently operating and deploying capital to grow our core industrial gases business. While
global economic challenges are likely to continue in fiscal year 2023, we remain focused on pricing actions to
recover higher energy costs in our merchant business, pursuing additional volume oppertunities, and closely
monitoring our costs. We expect our onsite business model, which has contractual protection from energy cost
fluctuations, to continue providing stable cash flow. This business consistently generates approximately half our
total company sales. Further, we expect several new projects to contribute to our results in 2023, including the
second phase of JICPC's gasificaliun and power project that we expect to commence in the second quarter.

Sustainability is our growth strategy at Air Products, and we have the financial capacity to support our zero- and
low-carbon hydrogen projects. We believe there will be additionat opportunities for clean hydrogen and carbon
capture technologies, which are further supported by the U.8. Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 that was enacted in
August. We anticipate benefits from tax incentives for carbon sequestration and clean hydrogen production in future
years once our new projects in these areas come on-stream in the U.S. We continue to evaluate the impact this act
could have on our business.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
DISCUSSION OF CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 vs. 2021 2021 vs. 2020
2022 2021 2020 $ %/bp 3 %/bp

GAAP Measures

Sales $12,698.6 $10,323.0 $8,856.3 $2,375.6 23% $1,466.7 17%

Operating income 2,338.8 2,281.4 2,237.6 57.4 3% 43.8 2%

Operating margin 18.4% 22.1% 25.3% (370} bp (320) bp

Equity affitiates’ income $481.5 $2041 $264.8 187.4 64% 29.3 11%

Net income 2,266.5 2,114.9 1,931.1 151.6 7% 183.8 10%

Net income margin 17.8% 20.5% 21.8% (270) bp (130) bp
Non-GAAP Measures

Adjusted EBITDA $4,247.0 $3,883.2 $3,619.8 363.8 9% 263.4 7%

Adjusted EBITDA margin 33.4% 37.6% 40.9% (420) bp (330) bp
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Sales

2022 2021
vs. 2021 vs. 2020
Volume 8% 5%
Price 6% 2%
Energy cost pass-through to customers 13% 6 %
Currency {4%) 4 %
Total Consolidated Sales Change 23% 17 %

2022 vs, 2021

Sales of $12,698.6 increased 23%, or $2,375.6, due to higher energy cost pass-through to customers of 13%,
higher valnmes of 8%, and positive pricing of G%, parlially offset by untavorable currency impacts of 4%. Energy
costs were significantly higher versus the prior year, particularly in Europe and the Americas. Contractual provisions
associated with our on-site business, which generates approximately half our total company sales, allow us to pass
the higher energy costs through to our customers. Volume growth was driven by recovery in hydrogen, new assets,
better merchant demand, and higher sale of equipment project activity. Continued focus on pricing actions in our
merchant businesses, including those intendcd to recover escaldaling power and tuel costs, resulted in price
improvement in our three largest segments. Currency was unfavorable as the U.S. Dollar strengthened against
most major currencies.

2021 vs, 2020

Sales of $10,323.0 increased 17%, or $1,466.7, due to higher energy cost pass-through to customers of 6%, higher
volumes of 5%, favorable currency impacts of 4%, and positive pricing of 2%. We experienced significantly higher
energy costs in the second half of fiscal year 2021, particularly in North America and Europe, which were passed to
our on-site customers. Positive volumes from new assets, our sale of equipment businesses, and merchant demand
recovery from COVID-19 were partially offset by reduced conlributions from our gasification joint venture with Lu'An
Clean Energy Company. Favorable currency was driven by the appreciation of the British Pound Sterling, Chinese
Renminbi, Euro, and South Korean Won against the U.S. Dollar. Continued focus on pricing actions, including
energy cost recovery, in our merchant businesses resulted in price improvement in the Americas, Asia, and Europe
segments.

Cost of Sales and Gross Margin

2022 vs, 2021

Cost of sales of $9,338.5 increased 30%, or $2,129.2, from total cost of sales of $7,209.3 in the prior year, which
included a charge of $23.2 for a facility closure as discussed below. The increase was due to higher energy cost
pass-through to customers of $1,263, unfavorable costs of $617, and higher costs associated with sales volumes of
$575, partially offset by favorable currency impacts of $302. The unfavorable cost impact was driven by power for
our merchant business, higher planned maintenance, inflation, and supply chain challenges. Additionally, we also
incurred higher costs to support long-term growth, such as costs for resources needed to bring projects on-stream
as well as costs for a helium storage cavern to support reliable helium supply to our customers globaily. Gross
margin of 26.5% decreased 370 bp from 30.2% in the prior year, primarily due to the unfavorable costs and higher
energy cost pass-through to customers, partially offset by the positive impact of our pricing actions.

2021 vs, 2020

Total cost of sales of $7,209.3, including the facility closure discussed below, increased 23%, or $1,351.2. The
increase from the prior year was primarily due to higher energy cost pass-thrcugh to customers of $479, higher
costs associated with sales volumes of $433, unfavorable currency impacts of $233, and higher costs, including
power and other cost inflation, of $183. Gross margin of 30.2% decreased 370 bp from 33.9% in the prior year,
primarily due to higher energy cost pass-through to customers, higher costs, and a reduced contribution from our
Lu'An joint venture, partially offset by the positive impact of our pricing actions.

Facility Closure

During the second quarter of fiscal year 2021, we recorded a charge of $23.2 ($17.4 after-tax, or $0.08 per share)
primarily for a noncash write-down of assets associated with a contract termination in the Americas segment. This
charge is reflected as "Facility closure” on our consolidated income statements for the fiscal year ended 30
September 2021 and was not recorded in segment results.
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Selling and Administrative

2022 ys, 2021

Selling and administrative expense of $900.6 increased 9%, or $72.2, primarily due to higher incentive
compensation, depreciation expense associated with our new global headquarters, inflation, and increased
headcount to support our growth strategy, partially offset by a faveorable currency impact from the strengthening of
the U.S. Dollar. Selling and administrative expense as a percentage of sales decreased to 7.1% from 8.0% in the
prior year.

2021 ys. 2020
Selling and administrative expense of $828.4 increased 7%, or $52.5, primarily due to higher spending for business

development resources to support our growth strategy and unfavorable currency impacts. Selling and administrative
expense as a percentage of sales decreased to 8.0% in fiscal year 2021 from 8.8% in fiscal year 2020.

Research and Development

2022 ys. 2021
Research and development expense of $102.9 increased 10%, or $9.4. Research and development expense as a
percentage of sales decreased to 0.8% from 0.9% in the pricr year.

2021 vs. 2020
Research and development expense of $93.5 increased 11%, or $9.6. Research and development expense as a
percentage of sales of 0.9% was flat versus fiscal year 2020.

Business and Asset Actions

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022, we divested our small industrial gas business in Russia due 1o Russia's
invasion of Ukraine. As a resull, we recorded a noncash charge of $73.7 ($61.0 after tax, or $0.27 per share), which
included transaction costs and cumulative currency translation losses. This charge is reflected as "Business and
asset actions” on our consolidated income statement for the fiscal year ended 30 September 2022 and was not
recorded in segment results.

Gain On Exchange With Joint Venture Partner

In the second quarter of fiscal year 2021, we recognized a gain of $36.8 ($27.3 after-tax, or $0.12 per share) on an
exchange with the Tyczka Group, a former joint venture partner. As part of the exchange, we separated our 50/50
joint venture in Germany into two separate businesses so each party could acquire a portion of the business on a
100% basis. The gain included $12.7 from the revaluation of our previously held equity interest in the portion of the
business that we retained and $24.1 from the sale of our interest in the remaining business. The gain is reflected as
"Gain on exchange with joint venture partner” on our consolidated income statements for the fiscal year ended 30
September 2021 and was not recorded in segment results. Refer to Note 3, Acquisitions, to the consolidated
financial statements for additicnal information.

Company Headquarters Relocation Income

In 2020, we sold property at our former corporate headquarters located in Trexlertown, Pennsylvania. We received
net proceeds of $44.1 and recorded a gain of $33.8 ($25.6 after-tax, or $0.12 per share), which is reflected on our
consolidated income statements as "Company headquarters relocation income (expense)” for the fiscal year ended
30 September 2020. The gain was not recorded in segment results.

Other Income (Expense), Net

2022 ys. 2021
Other income of $55.9 increased 6%, or $3.1, as higher income from the sale of assets in fiscal year 2022 was
partially offset by a prior year settlerment of a supply contract.

2021 ys, 2020

Other income of $52.8 decreased 19%, or $12.6. Fiscal year 2020 was favorably impacted by an adjustment for a
benefit plan liability due to a change in plan terms. This impact was partially offset by the settlement of a supply
contract in fiscal year 2021.
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Operating Income and Margin

2022 vs. 2021

Operating income of $2,338.8 increased 3%, or $57.4, as positive pricing, net of power and fuel costs, of $222 and
higher volumes of $218 were partially offset by higher costs of $229 and an unfavorable currency impact of $66.
Higher costs were primarily attributable to operating and distribution costs driven by higher planned maintenance
and various external factors, including inflation and supply chain challenges, as well as higher incentive
compensation. Additionally, we incurred higher costs in the current year to support long-term growth, such as costs
for resources needed to bring projects on-stream. In fiscal year 2022, we also recorded a charge of $74 for
business and asset actions associated with the divestiture of our Russia business. The prior year included a gain of
$37 on an exchange with a joint venture partner and a charge of $23 associated with a facility closure.

Operating margin of 18.4% decreased 370 bp from 22.1% in the prior year, primarily due to higher energy cost
pass-through to customers and unfavorable costs.

2021 vs. 2020

Operating income of $2,281 .4 increased 2%, or $43.8, as favorable currency of $96, positive pricing, net of power
and fuel costs, of $95, and a gain on an exchange with a joint venture parner of $37 were partially offset by higher
operating costs of $127 and a facility closure of $23. Additionally, fiscal year 2020 included income of $34
associated with our company headquarters relocation. Despite higher sales volumes, the volume impact on
operating income was minimal due to a reduced contribution from our Lu'An joint venture in fiscal year 2021.
Unfavorable operating costs were driven by the addition of resources to support our growth strategy and higher
planned maintenance activities.

Operating margin of 22.1% decreased 320 bp frem 25.3% in fiscal year 2020, primarily due to the higher operating
costs, higher energy cost pass-through to customers and the reduced contribution from our LU'An joint venture,
partially offset by positive pricing. The positive impact from a gain on an exchange with a joint venture partner in
2021 was offset by income in fiscal year 2020 associated with the company headquarters relocation.

Equity Affiliates’ Income

2022 vs. 2021

Equity affiliates’ income of $481.5 increased 64%, or $187.4, driven by the JIGPC joint venture, which began
contributing to our results in the Middle East and India segment in late October 2021. In the first quarter, we also
recognized the remaining deferred profit associated with air separation units previously sold toc Jazan Gas Project
Company, net of other project finalization costs. These factors were partially offset by an impairment charge of
$14.8 (8111 after tax, or $0.05 per share) related teo two small affiliates in the Asia segment and lower contributions
from several affiliates in our regional segments.

For additional information on our equily affiliates, refer to Note 7, Equity Affiliates, to the consalidated financial
statements.

2021 vs. 2020

Equity affiliates' income of $294.1 increased 11%, or $29.3. Higher income from affiliates in the regional segments
was partially offset by a benefit of $33.8 in fiscal year 2020 from the enactment of the India Finance Act 2020. Refer
to Note 21, Income Taxes, to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.
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Interest Expense

Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 2021 2020
Interest incurred $169.0 $170.1 $1252
Less: Capitalized interest 41.0 28.3 15.9
Interest expense $128.¢ $141.8 $109.3

2022 vs. 2021

Interest incurred decreased 1%, or $1.1, as the impacts of a lower debt balance and currency were mostly offset by
a higher average interest rate on the debt portfolio. Capitalized interest increased 45%, or $12.7, due tn a higher
carrying value of projects under construction.

021 vs. 2020

Interest incurred increased 36%, or $44.9, driven by a higher debt balance due to the issuance of U.S. Dollar- and
Euro-denominated fixed-rate notes in the third quarter of fiscal year 2020. Capitalized interest increased $12.4 due
to a higher carrying value of projects under construction.

Other Non-Operating Income (Expense), Net

2022 vs. 2021

Other non-operating income of $62.4 decreased 15%, or $11.3. Non-service pension income decreased $38
primarily due to lower expected returns on plan assets for the U.S. salaried pension plan and the U.K. pension plan.
This impact was partiaily offset by higher interest income on cash and cash items due to higher interest rates and
lower expense for excluded components of cash flow hedges of intercompany loans.

2021 vs, 2020

Other non-operating income of $73.7 increased $43.0. We recorded higher non-service pension income in 2021 due
to lower interest costs and higher total assets, primarily for our U.S. pension plans. Fiscal year 2021 also included
favorable currency impacts. These factors were partially offset by lower interest income on cash and cash items due
to lower interest rates.

Discontinued Operations

In fiscal year 2022, income from discontinued operations, net of tax, was $12.6 ($0.06 per share). This primarily
resulted from a net tax benefit recorded in the fourth quarter upeon release of tax liabilities for uncertain tax positions
associated with our former Performance Materials Division ("PMD") for which the statute of limitations expired.

In fiscal year 2021, income from discontinued operations, net of tax, was $70.3 ($0.32 per share). This included net
tax benefits of $60.0 recorded for the release of tax reserves for uncertain tax positions, of which $51.8 ($0.23 per
share) was recorded in the fourth quarter for liabilities associated with the 2017 sale of PMD and $8.2 was recorded
in the third quarter for liabilities associated with our former Energy-from-Waste business. Additionally, we recorded a
tax benefit from discontinued operations of $10.3 in the first quarter, primarily from the settlement of a state tax
appeal related to the gain on the sale of PMD.

In fiscal year 2020, loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, was $14.3 ($0.06 per share). This resulted from a
pre-tax loss of $19.0 recorded in the second quarter to increase our existing liability for retained environmental
obligations associated with the sale of our former Amines business in September 2006. Refer to the Pace
discussion within Note 16, Commitments and Contingencies, for additional information.
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Net Income and Net Income Margin

2022 vs. 2021

Net income of $2,266.5 increased 7%, or $151.6, primarily due to higher pricing, net of power and fuel costs, higher
volumes, and higher equity affiliates' income driven by JIGPC, partially offset by higher costs, including charges for
business and asset actions and the equity affiliate impairment, and unfavorable currency due to the strengthening of
the U.S. dollar, Additionally, the prior year included higher net income from discontinued operations.

Net income margin of 17.8% decreased 270 bp from 20.5% in the prior year primarily due to higher energy cost
pass-through to customers as the impact of higher equity affiliates’ income was offset by unfavorable costs. Higher
energy cost pass-through to customers accounted for approximately 200 bp of the decline.

2021 vs. 2020

Net income of $2,114.9 increased 10%, or $183.8. As discussed above, fiscal year 2021 included higher net income
from discontinued operatinns. On a continuing operations basis, lhe increase was driven by positive pricing, net of
power and fuel costs, favorable currency impacts, higher equity affiliates’ income, and a gain on an exchange with a
joint venture partner, partially offset by unfavorable operating costs and a loss from a facility closure. Additionally,
less net income was attributable to noncontroiling interests, including our Lu'An joint venture partner. Fiscal year
2020 also included income associated with the company headquarters relocation and a net benefit from the India
Finance Act 2020.

Net income margin of 20.5% decreased 130 bp from 21.8% in the prior year, primarily due to higher energy and
natural gas cost pass-through to customers, which decreased margin by approximately 100 bp, and unfavorable net
operating costs, partially offset by the impact from our pricing actions.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin

2022 vs. 2021

Adjusted EBITDA of $4,247.0 increased 9%, or $363.8, primarily due to higher volumes, higher pricing, net of power
and fuel costs, and higher equity affiliates' incorne, partially offset by higher costs and unfavorable currency.
Adjusted EBITDA margin of 33.4% decreased 420 bp from 37.6% in the prior year primarily due to higher energy
cost pass-through to customers as the impact of higher equity affiliates' income was offset by unfavorable costs.
Higher energy cost pass-through to customers accounted for approximately 400 bp of the decline.

2021 vs. 2020

Adjusted EBITDA of $3,883.2 increased 7%, or $263.4, primarily due to favorable currency impacts, positive pricing,
net of power and fuel costs, and higher equity affiliates’ income, partially offset by unfavorable operating costs.
Adjusted EBITDA margin of 37.6% decreased 330 bp from 40.9% in the pricr year, primarily due to higher energy
and natural gas cost pass-through to customers, which decreased margin by approximately 200 bp, and the
unfavorable net operating costs.

Effective Tax Rate

The effective tax rate equals the income tax provision divided by income from continuing operations before taxes.
Refer to Note 21, Income Taxes, to the consolidated financial statements for details on factors affecting the effective
tax rate.

2022 vs. 2021

Our effective tax rate was 18.2% and 18.5% for the fiscal years ended 30 September 2022 and 2021, respectively.
The current year reflects a favorable effective tax rate impact from higher equity affiliates' income, which is primarily
presented net of income taxes within income from continuing operations on our consoclidated income statements.
The higher equity affiliates’ income was driven by the JIGPC joint venture, which began contributing to our results in
late October 2021. The prior year included a tax benefit of $21.5 from the release of tax reserves established for
uncertain tax positions. This included a benefit of $12.2 ($0.05 per share) for the release of reserves established in
2017 for a tax election related to a non-U.S. subsidiary and other previcusly disclosed items ("tax election benefit
and other").

Our adjusted effective tax rate was 18.2% and 18.9% for the fiscal years ended 30 September 2022 and 2021,
respectively.
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2021 vs. 2020

Our effective tax rate was 18.5% and 19.7% for the fiscal years ended 30 September 2021 and 2020, respectively.
The fiscal year 2021 rate was lower primarily due to income tax benefits of $21.5 recorded upon expiration of the
statute of limitations for tax reserves previously established for uncertain tax positions taken in prior years. This
included a bencfit of $12.2 (50.05 per share) for release of reserves established in 2017 for a tax election related to
a non-U.S. subsidiary and other previously disclosed items ("tax election benefit and other™).

Additionally, the fiscal year 2020 effective tax rate reflected the unfavorable impact of India Finance Act 2020, which
resulted in additional net income of $13.5 ($0.06 per share). This included an increase to equity affiliates' income of
$33.8, partially offset by an increase to our income tax provisicn of $20.3 for changes in the future tax costs of
repatriated earnings.

Our adjusted effective tax rate was 18.9% and 19.1% for the fiscal years ended 30 September 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

DISCUSSION OF RESULTS BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

Prior year segment information presented below has been updated to reflect the reorganization of our reporting
segments effective 1 October 2021. The reorganization included the separation of our former Industrial Gases —
EMEA (Europe, Middle East, and Africa) segment into two separate reporting segments: (1) Europe and (2) Middle
East and India. The results of an affiliate formerly reflected in the Asia segment are now reported in the Middle East
and India segment. Additionally, the resuits of our Industrial Gases — Global operating segment are reflected in the
Corporate and other segment. The reorganization did not impact the Americas segment.

Americas

Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 vs. 2021 2021 vs. 2020
2022 2021 2020 $ %/bp $ %/bp
Sales $5,368.9 $4,167.6 $3,630.7 $1,201.3 29% $536.9 15%
Operating income 1,174.4 1,065.5 1,012.4 108.9 10% 531 5%
Operating margin 21.9% 25.6% 27.9% {370) bp (230) bp
Equity affiliates’ income $98.2 $112.5 $84.3 (14.3) (13%) 28.2 33%
Adjusted EBITDA 1,902.1 1,789.9 1,656.2 112.2 6% 133.7 8%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 35.4% 42.9% 45.6% {750) bp (270) bp

The table below summarizes the major factors that impacted sales in the Americas segment for the periods
presented:

2022 2021
vs. 2021 vs. 2020
Volume 8% o
Price 6% 4%
Energy cost pass-through to customers 16% 11%
Currency (1%) —%
Total Americas Sales Change 29% 15%

2022 ys. 2021 (Americas)

Sales of $5,368.9 increased 29%, or $1,201.3, due to higher energy cost pass-through to customers of 16%, higher
volumes of 8%, and positive pricing of 6%, partially cffset by an unfavorable currency impact of 1%. Significantly
higher energy costs increased contractual cost pass-through to our on-site customers. In our merchant business,
we successfully implemented pricing actions across all major product lines. The volume improvement was driven by
a recovery in hydrogen and better demand for merchant products in North America. The unfavorable currency
impact was primarily attributable to the strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against the Chilean Peso.
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Operating income of $1,174 4 increased 10%, or $108.9, primarily from pricing, net of power and fuel costs, of $146
and favorable volumes of $68, partially offset by higher costs of $100. Higher costs were driven by supply chain
challenges, including driver shortages that continue to impact the industry broadly, inflation, higher planned
maintenance, and higher incentive compensation. Operating margin of 21.9% decreased 370 bp from 25.6% in the
priar year, as higher cnergy cost pass-through 1o customers and higher costs were only partially offset by higher
pricing. The higher energy cost pass-through to customers accounted for approximately 300 bp of the decline.

Equity affiliates’ income of $98.2 decreased 13%, or $14.3, driven by our Mexico affiliate.

2021 vs. 2020 (Americas)

Sales of $4,167.6 increased 15%, or $536.9, due to higher energy cost pass-through to customers of 11% and
positive pricing of 4%, as voluines and currency were flat versus the prior year. Energy cost pass-through to
customers was higher in fiscal year 2021 primarily due to natural gas prices, which rose significantly in the second
quarter and remained elevated throughout the year. The pricing improvement was attributable to continued focus on
pricing actions in our merchant business, Volumes were flat as positive contributions from new assets, including
hydrogen assets we acquired in April 2020, were offset by lower hydrogen and merchant demand.

Operating income of $1,065.5 increased 5%, or $53.1, due to higher pricing, net of power and fuel costs, of $79 and
favorable currency of $10, partially offset by higher operating costs, including planned maintenance, of $36.
Operating margin of 25.6% decreased 230 bp from 27.9% in 2020 primarily due to higher energy cost pass-through
to customers, which negatively impacted margin by approximately 250 bp, and higher operating costs, partially
offset by the impact of our pricing actions.

Equity affiliates’ income of $112.5 increased 33%, or $28.2, driven by higher income from our Mexico affiliate.

Asia
Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 vs. 2021 2021 vs. 2020
2022 2021 2020 $ %elbp $ %/bp
Sales $3,143.3 $2,920.8 $2,716.5 $222.5 8% $204.3 8%
Operating income 898.3 838.3 870.3 60.0 7% (32.0) (4%)
Operating margin 28.6% 28.7% 32.0% (10) bp (330) bp
Equity affiliates’ income $22.1 $35.9 $32.1 (13.8) (38%) 3.8 12%
Adjusted EBITDA 1,356.9 1,318.6 1,301.8 383 3% 16.8 1%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 43.2% 45.1% 47.9% (190) bp (280) bp
The table below summarizes the major factors that impacted sales in the Asia segment for the periods presented:
2022 2021
vs. 2021 vs. 2020
Volume 7% —%
Price 3% 4%
Energy cost pass-through to customers 1% —%
Currency {3%) 7%
Total Asia Sales Change 8% 8%
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2022 vs. 2021 (Asia)

Sales of $3,143.3 increased 8%, or $222.5, due to higher volumes of 7%, positive pricing of 3%, and higher energy
cost pass-through to customers of 1%, partially offset by unfavorable currency impacts of 3%. Volumes improved
overall despite COVID-19 restrictions in certain parts of China and included contributions from several traditional
industrial gas plants that were brought on-stream in our on-site business across the region. Pricing improved across
all key countries and most major merchant preduct lines. The unfavorable currency impact was primarily attributable
to the strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against the Chinese Renminbi and the South Korean Won.

Operating income of $898.3 increased 7%, or $60.0, as higher volumes of $104 and positive pricing, net of power
and fuel costs, of $22 were partially offset by higher operating costs of $43 and an unfavorable currency impact of
$23. Higher costs were driven by higher distribution and product sourcing costs, including those related to supply
chain inefficiencies, inflation, higher incentive compensation, and resources needed to support new project start-
ups. Operating margin of 28.6% decreased 10 bp from 28.7% in the prior year as the positive impact of our votume
growth was mostly offset by the higher costs.

Equity affiliates’ income of $22.1 decreased 38%, or $13.8, driven by an affiliate in Thailand.
2021 vs. 2020 {(Asia)

Sales of $2,920.8 increased 8%, or $204.3, due to tavorable currency of 7% and positive pricing cf 1%, as both
volumes and energy cost pass-through to customers were flat versus 2020. Positive volume contributions from our
base merchant business and new plants were offset by a reduced contribution from our Lu'An joint venture. The
favorable currency impact was primarily attributable to the appreciation of the Chinese Renminbi and South Korean
Won against the U.S. Dollar.

Operating income of $838.3 decreased 4%, or $32.0, primarily due to unfavorable volume mix of $62 and higher
operating costs, including inflation and product sourcing costs, of $32, partially offset by favorable currency of $59.
Operating margin of 28.7% decreased 330 bp frem 32.0% in the prior year primarily due to a reduced contribution
from our Lu'An joint venture.

Equity affiliates’ income of $35.9 increased 12%, or $3.8.

Europe
Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 vs. 2021 2021 vs. 2020
2022 2021 2020 $ %/bp 3 Y%/bp

Sales $3,086.1 $2,345.6 $1,847.0 $740.5 32% $498.6 27%
Operating income 503.4 529.4 454.8 {26.0) {5%) 74.6 16%
Operating margin 16.3% 22.6% 24.6% (630) bp (200) bp
Equity affiliates’ income $78.2 $62.8 $51.8 15.4 25%, 11.0 21%
Adjusted EBITDA 776.8 796.7 682.5 {(19.9) {2%) 114.2 17%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 25.2% 34.0% 37.0% (880) bp (300) bp

The table below summarizes the major factors that impacted sales in the Europe segment for the periods
presented:

2022 2021
vs. 2021 vs. 2020
Volume 1% 11%
Price 15% 3%
Energy cost pass-through to customers 27% 6%
Currency (11%) 7%
Total Europe Sales Change 32% 27%
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2022 vs. 2021 (Europe)
Sales of $3,086.1 increased 32%, or $740.5, due to higher energy cost pass-through to customers of 27%, higher

pricing of 15%, and higher volumes of 1%, partiaily offset by an unfavorable currency impact of 11%. Significantly
nigher energy costs across the region increased contractual cost pass-through to our on-site customers. In our
merchant business, we successfully implemented pricing actions in all major product lines. While we experienced
better demand for merchant products, volumes were relatively flat due to lower hydrogen demand. Additionally,
sales in this region were negatively impacted by the strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against the Euro and the British
Pound Sterling.

Operating income of $503.4 decreased 5%, or $26.0, due to unfavorable currency impacts of $37, higher costs of
$31, and unfavorable volume mix of $19, paulially offset by higher pricing, net of power and fuel costs, of $61.
Higher costs were primarily attributable to inflation and distribution and sourcing costs. Cperating margin of 16.3%
decreased 630 bp from 22.6% in the prior year primarily due to higher energy cost pass-through to customers,
which accounted for approximately 450 bp of the margin decline, and higher costs.

Equity affiliates’ income of $78.2 increased 25%, or $15.4, driven by an affiliate in Italy.

2021 vs. 2020 (Europe)

Sales of $2,345.6 increased 27%, or $498.6, due to higher volumes of 11%, favorable currency impacts of 7%,
higher energy cosl pass-through to customers of 6%, and positive pricing of 3%. The volume improvement was
driven by our base merchant business and new assets, including those from a business in Israel that we acquired in
the fourth quarter of 2020. While our liquid bulk business largely recovered from COVID-19 in fiscal year 2021,
demand for packaged gases and hydrogen continued to be lower than pre-pandemic levels. Favorable currency
impacts were primarily attributable to the appreciation of the British Pound Sterling and Euro against the U.S. Dollar.
Energy cost pass-through to customers was higher primarily in the second half of the year as we had experienced
significantly higher natural gas and electricity costs in Europe. The pricing improvement was primarily attributable to
our merchant business.

Operating income of $529.4 increased 16%, or $74.8, due to higher voiumes of $47, favorable currency impacts of
$31, and positive pricing, net of power and fuel costs, of $13, partially offset by unfavorable costs of $16. Operating
margin of 22.6% decreased 200 bp from 24.6% in the prior year, primarily due to impacts from higher energy cost
pass-through to customers, which negatively impacted margin by approximately 100 bp, and unfavorable operating
costs.

Equity affiliates’ income of $62.8 increased 21%, or $11.0, primarily due to higher income from affiliates in Italy and
South Africa.

Middle East and India

Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 vs. 2021 2021 vs. 2020
2022 2021 2020 $ Yo/bp $ %/bp
Sales $129.5 $99.3 $79.3 $30.2 30% $20.0 25%
Operating income 21.1 28.0 18.5 {6.9) (25%) 9.5 51%
Equity affiliates’ income 293.9 76.4 51.9 217.5 285% 24.5 47%
Adjusted EBITDA 3419 129.7 90.4 212.2 164% 39.3 43%

2022 vs. 2021 (Middle East and india)

Sales of $129.5 increased 30%, or $30.2, primarily due to a new plant in India and a small acquisition. Operating
income of $21.1 decreased 25%, or $6.9, due to unfavorable volume mix and higher costs. Equily affiliates' income
of $293.9 increased $217.5 primarily from the JIGPC joint venture, which began contributing to our results in late
Octaober 2021, as well as recognition of the remaining deferred profit associated with air separation units previously
sold to Jazan Gas Project Company, net of other project finalization costs, in the first quarter.

2021 vs, 2020 (Middle East and Indig)

Sales of $99.3 increased 25%, or $20.0, and operating income of $28.0 increased 51%, or $9.5, primarily due to a
new plant in India. Equity affiliates’ income of $76.4 increased 47%, or $24.5, primarily due to higher income from
an affiliate in India.
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Corporate and other

Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 vs. 2021 2021 vs. 2020
2022 2021 2020 $ %/bp % Yolbp
Bales $970.8 $789.7 $582.8 $181.1 23% $206.9 36%
Operating loss {184.7) (193.4) (152.2) 8.7 4% (41.2) (27%)
Adjusted EBITDA {130.7) {151.7) (111.1} 21.0 14% (40.6) (37%)

2022 vs. 2021 (Corporate and othgr)

Sales of $970.8 increased 23%, or $181.1, and operating loss of $184.7 decreased 4%, or $8.7, as the current year
included higher sale of equipment project activity related to air separation equipment, completion of liquefaction
equipment for an LNG project, as well as distribution equipment.

2021 vs. 2020 (Corporate and other)

Sales of $789.7 increased 36%, or $206.9, primarily due to higher project activity in our sale of equipment and turbo
machinery equipment and services businesses. Despite higher sales, operating loss of $193.4 increased 27%, or
$41.2, as higher project costs, product development spending, and corporate support costs were only partially offset
by higher sale of equipment activity and a favorable settlement of a supply contract.

RECONCILIATIONS OF NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

(Millions of dollars unless otherwise indicated, except for per share data)

We present certain financial measures, other than in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
("GAAP™), on an "adjusted” or "non-GAAP" basis. On a consolidated basis, these measures include adjusted diluted
earnings per share ("EPS"), adjusted EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA margin, adjusted effective tax rate, and capital
expenditures. On a segment basis, these measures include adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin. In
addition to these measures, we also present certain supplemental non-GAAP financial measures to help the reader
understand the impact that certain disclosed iterns, or "non-GAAP adjustments,” have on the calculation of our
adjusted diluted EPS. For each non-GAAP financial measure, we present a reconciliation to the most directly
comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP.

In many cases, non-GAAP financial measures are determined by adjusting the most directly comparable GAAP
measure to exclude certain items that we believe are not representative of our underlying business performance, or
"non-GAAP adjustments.” For example, we previously excluded certain expenses associated with cost reduction
actions, impairment charges, and gains on disclosed transactions. The reader should be aware that we may
recognize similar losses or gains in the future.

When applicable, the tax impact of our pre-tax non-GAAP adjustments reflects the expected current and deferred
income tax impact of our non-GAAP adjustments. These tax impacts are primarily driven by the statutory tax rate of
the various relevant jurisdictions and the taxability of the adjustments in those jurisdictions.

We provide these non-GAAP financial measures to allow investors, potential investors, securities analysts, and
others to evaluate the performance of our business in the same manner as our management. We believe these
measures, when viewed together with financial results computed in accordance with GAAP, provide a more
complete understanding of the factors and trends affecting our historical financial performance and projected future
results. However, we caution readers not to consider these measures in isolation or as a substitute for the most
directly comparabile measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. Readers should also consider the limitations
associated with these non-GAAP financial measures, including the potential lack of comparability of these measures
from one company to another.
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Adjusted Diluted EPS

The table below provides a reconciliation to the most directly comparable GAAP measure for each of the major
components used to calculate adjusted diluted EPS from continuing operations, which we view as a key
performance metric. In periods that we have non-GAAP adjustments, we believe it is important for the reader to
understand the per share impact of each such adjustment because management does not consider these impacts
when evaluating underlying business performance. Per share impacts are calcuiated independently and may not
sum to total diluted EPS and total adjusted diluted EPS due to rounding.

Equity Net Income

Operating Affiliates’ Income Tax Attributable to Diluted
Fiscal Year Ended 30 September Incuime income Provision  Air Products EPS
2022 GAAP $2,338.8 $481.5 $500.8 $2,243.5 $10.08
2021 GAAP 2,281.4 294.1 462.8 2,028.8 912
Change GAAP $0.96
% Change GAAP 11%
2022 GAAP $2,338.8 $481.5 $500.8 $2,2435 $10.08
Business and asset actions 73.7 — 12.7 61.0 0.27
Equity methor investment impairment chargs — 14.8 3.7 11.1 0.05
2022 Non-GAAP {"Adjusted") $2,412.5 $496.3 $517.2 $2,315.6 $10.41
2021 GAAP $2,281.4 $294 1 $462.8 $2,028.8 $9.12
Facility closure 23.2 — 5.8 17.4 0.08
Gain on exchange with joint venture partner {36.8) — (9.5) {27.3) (0.12)
Tax election benefit and other — — 12.2 {12.2) {0.05)
2021 Non-GAAP ("Adjusted”) $2,267.8 $204.1 $471.3 $2,006.7 $9.02
Change Non-GAAP ("Adjusted”} $1.39
% Change Non-GAAP ("Adjusted") 15%

Equity Net Income

Operating Affiliates’ Income Tax Attributable to Diluted
Fiscal Year Ended 30 September Income Income Provision  Air Products EPS
2021 GAAP $2,281.4 $294.1 $462.8 $2,028.8 $9.12
2020 GAAP 2,237.6 264.8 478.4 1,901.0 8.55
Change GAAP $0.57
% Change GAAP 7%
2021 GAAP $2.2814 $294.1 $462.8 $2,028.8 $9.12
Facility closure 23.2 — 5.8 17.4 0.08
Gain on exchange with joint venture partner (36.8) — (9.5} (27.3) (0.12)
Tax election benefit and other — — 12.2 (12.2) (0.05)
2021 Non-GAAP ("Adjusted™) $2,267.8 $294.1 $471.3 $2,006.7 $9.02
2020 GAAP $2,237.6 $264.8 54784 $1.901.0 $8.55
Company headguarters relocation (income) expense (33.8) — (8.2) (25.6) (0.12)
India Finance Act 2020 — (33.8) {20.3) {13.5) (0.06)
2020 Non-GAAP ("Adjusted™) $2,203.8 $231.0 $449.9 $1,861.9 $8.38
Change Non-GAAP ("Adjusted™) $0.64

8 %

% Change Non-GAAP ("Adjusted"”)
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Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin

We define adjusted EBITDA as net income less income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax, and
excluding certain items that we do not believe are indicative of underlying business trends, before interest expense,
other non-operating income (expense), net, income tax provision, and depreciation and amortization expense.
Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin provide useful metrics for management to assess operating
performance. Margins are calculated independently for each period by dividing each line item by consolidated sales
for the respective period and may not sum to total margin due to rounding.

The tables below present consolidated sales and a reccnciliation of net income on a GAAP basis to adjusted
EBITDA and net income margin on a GAAP basis to adjusted EBITDA margin:

Fiscal Year Ended 30 September

2022 2021 2020

$ Margin $ Margin $ Margin
Sales $12,698.6 $10,323.0 $8,856.3
Net income and net income margin $2,266.5 17.8% $2,1149 205% $1,931.1 21.8 %
Less: Income (Loss) from discnntinued o o 9
operations, net of tax 12.6 0.1% 70.3 0.7% (14.3)  (0.2%)
Add; Interest expense 128.0 1.0% 141.8 1.4% 109.3 1.2 %
Less: Other non-operating income o o, o
(expense), net 62.4 0.5% 73.7 0.7% 30.7 03 %
Add: Income tax provision 500.8 3.9% 462.8 4.5% 478.4 5.4 %
Add; Depreciation and amortization 1,338.2 10.5% 1,321.3 12.8% 1,185.0 134 %
Add: Facility closure — —% 23.2 0.2% e — %
Add: Business and asset actions 73.7 0.6% — —% — — %
Less; Gain on exchange with joint venture e __ 5
partner — —% 36.8 0.4% Yo
Less: Company headquarters relocation o _ 0 o
income (expense) - o 7 33.8 0.4 %
less: India Finance Act 2020 — equity _ _ o
affiliate income impact - —% % 33.8 04 %
Add; Equity method investment impairment _ _ . __ o
charge 14.8 0.1% % %o

f,‘gjr‘;;ed EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA ¢4 5470  334% $3.8832 37.6% $3,619.8 40.9 %

2022 2021
vs. 2021 vs. 2020
Change GAAP
Net income $§ change $151.6 $183.8
Net income % change 7% 10%
Net income margin change (270) bp (130) bp
Change Non-GAAP
Adjusted EBITDA $ change $363.8 $263.4
Adjusted EBITDA % change 9% 7%
Adjusted EBITDA margin change {420) bp (330) bp

37



The tables below present sales and a reconciliation of operating income and operating margin to adjusted EBITDA
and adjusted EBITDA margin for each of our reporting segments for the fiscal years ended 30 September:

Americas
Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 vs. 2021 2021 vs. 2020
2022 2021 2020 $ Y/bp $ %/bp
Sales $5,368.9 3$4,1676 $3,630.7 $1,201.3 29% $536.9 15%
Operating income $1,174.4 $1,0855 $1,0124 $108.9 10% $53.1 5%
Operating margin 21.9% 25.6% 27.9% {370) bp (230) bp
Rernnciliation of CAAD tg Non-QAAP,
Operating income $1,1744 $1,0655 §1.0124
Add: Depreciation and amortization 629.5 611.9 559.5
Add: Equity affiliates’ income 98.2 112.5 84.3
Adjusted EBITDA $1,9021 $1,789.9 $1,656.2 $112.2 6% $1337 8%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 35.4% 42.9% 45.6% (750) bp (270) bp
Asia
Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 vs. 2021 2021 vs. 2020
2022 2021 2020 $ Yo/bp 3 %/bp
Sales $3,143.3 $28208 $2,7165 $222.5 8% $204 .3 8%
Operating income $898.3 $838.3 $870.3 $60.0 T% {$32.0) (4%)
Operating margin 28.6% 28.7% 32.0% (10) bp (330) bp
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP;
Operating income $898.3 $838.3 $870.3
Add: Depreciation and amortization 436.5 444 4 3994
Add: Equity affiliates’ income 221 35.9 32.1
Adjusted EBITDA $1,356.9 $1,3186 $1,301.8 $38.3 3% $16.8 1%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 43.2% 45.1% 47.9% (190) bp (280) bp
Europe
Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 vs, 2021 2021 vs. 2020
2022 2021 2020 $ Ya/bp $ %a/bp
Sales $3,086.1 $2,3456 $1,847.0 $740.5 32% $498.6 27%
Operating income $503.4 $529.4 %4548 ($26.0) (5%) $74.6 16%
Operating margin 16.3% 22.6% 246% (630} bp (200) bp
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP:
Operating income $503.4 $529.4 $4548
Add: Depreciation and amortization 195.2 204.5 175.9
Add: Equity affiliates' income 78.2 62.8 51.8
Adjusted EBITDA $776.8 $796.7 $682.5 {$19.9) {2%) $114.2 17%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 25.2% 34.0% 37.0% {880) bp (300) bp
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Middle East and India

Fiscal Year Ended 30 September

2022 vs. 2021

2021 vs. 2020

2022 2021 2020 $ Yo/bp $ %/bp

Sales $129.5 $99.3 $79.3 $30.2 30% $20.0 25%
Operating income $21.1 $28.0 $18.5 ($6.9) (25%) $9.5 51%
Recongiliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP:

Operating income $21.1 $28.0 $18.5

Add: Depreciation and amortization 26.9 25.3 20.0

Add: Equity affiliates’ income 2939 76.4 51.9

Adjusted EBITDA $341.9 $129.7 $80.4 $212.2 164 bp $39.3 43%

Corporate and other

Fiscal Year Ended 30 September

2022 vs, 2021

2021 vs. 2020

2022 2021 2020 $ Yo/bp $ %/bp

Sales $970.8 $789.7 $582.8 $181.1 23% $206.9 36%
Operating loss ($184.7)  ($193.4) (3152.2) $8.7 4% ($41.2) (27%)
Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP:

Operating income ($184.7) ($1934) ($152.2)

Add: Depreciation and amortization 50.1 35.2 30.2

Add: Equity affiliates’ income 39 6.5 10.9

Adjusted EBITDA ($130.7) (3151.7)  (3111.1) $21.0 14 bp ($40.6) (37%)
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Adjusted Effective Tax Rate

The effective tax rate equals the income tax provision divided by income from continuing operations before taxes.

Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 2021 2020
Income tax provision $500.8 $462.8 $478.4
Income from continuing operations before taxes 2,754.7 2,507.4 2,423.8
Effective tax rate 18.2% 18.5% 19.7%
Income tax provision $500.8 $462.8 $478.4
Farility closure _ 5.8 —
Business and asset actions 12.7 — —
Gain on exchange with joint venture partner — (9.5) —
Company headquarters relocation — — (8.2)
India Finance Act 2020 — — (20.3)
Equity method investment impairment charge 3.7 — -
Tax election benefit and other — 12.2 —
Adjusted income tax provision $517.2 $471.3 $449.9
Income from continuing operations before taxes $2,754.7 $2,507.4 $2,4238
Facility closure — 23.2 —
Business and asset actions 73.7 — —
Gain on exchange with joint venture partner — {36.8) —
Company headquarters relocation (income) expense — — (33.8)
India Finance Act 2020 — equity affiliate income impact - — (33.8)
Equity method investment impairment charge 14.8 — —
Adjusted income from continuing operations before taxes $2,843.2 $2,493.8 $2,356.2
Adjusted effective tax rate 18.2% 18.9% 19.1%

Capital Expenditures

We define capital expenditures as cash flows for additions to plant and eguipment, including long-term deposits,
acquisitions (less cash acquired), and investment in and advances to unconsclidated affiliates. A reconciliation of
cash used for investing activities to our reported capital expenditures is provided below:

Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 2021
Cash used for investing activities $3,857.2 $2,732.9
Proceeds from sale of assets and investments 46.2 375
Purchases of investments (1.637.8) (2,100.7)
Proceeds from investments 2,377.4 1,8752
Other investing activities 7.0 5.8

$4,650.0 $2,550.7

Capital expenditures
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our cash balance and cash flows from operations are our primary sources of liquidity and are generally sufficient to
meet our liquidity needs. In addition, we have the flexibility to access capital through a variety of financing activities,
including accessing the capital markets, drawing upon our uredil facility, or alternatively, accessing the commercial
paper markets. At this time, we have not utilized, nor do we expect to access, our credit facility for additional
liquidity.

As of 30 September 2022, we had $1,611.1 of foreign cash and cash items compared to total cash and cash items
of $2,711.0. We do not expect that a significant portion of the earnings of our foreign subsidiaries and affiliates will
be subject to U.S. income tax upon repatriation to the U.S. Depending on the country in which the subsidiaries and
affiliates reside, the repatriation of these earnings may be subject to foreign withholding and other taxes. However,
since we have significant current investment plans outside the U.3., it is our intent 1o permanently reinvest the
majority of our foreign cash and cash items that would be subject to additional taxes outside the U.S.

Cash Flows From Operaticns

Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 2021
Net income from ccntinuing operations attributable to Air Products $2,243.5 $2,028.8
Adjustments to reconcile income to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 1,338.2 11,3213
Deferred income taxes 323 94.0
Facility closure — 232
Business and asset actions 73.7 —
Undistributed earnings of equity method investments (214.7) (138.2)
Gain on sale of assets and investments (24.1) (37.2)
Share-based compensation 48.4 44.5
Noncurrent lease receivables 94.0 98.8
Other adjustments (304.9) (1186.7)
Changes in working capital accounts {115.8) 16.7
Cash Provided by Operating Activities $3,170.6 $3,335.2

For the fiscal year ended 30 September 2022, cash provided by operating activities was $3,170.6. Undistributed
earnings of equity method investments reflects activity from the JIGPC joint venture, which began contributing to our
resulls in late Ociober 2021. We received cash distributions of approximately $155 from this joint venture during the
fiscal year. Other adjustments of $304.9 included adjustments for noncash currency impacts of intercompany
balances, deferred costs associated with new projects, contributions to pension plans, and payments made for
leasing activities. The working capital accounts were a use of cash of $115.8, primarily driven by a use of cash of
$475.2 from trade receivables, less allowances, $94.3 from inventory and $77.0 from other working capital, partially
offset by a source of cash of $532.5 from payables and accrued liabilities. The use of cash within trade receivables
includes the impacts of higher natural gas costs contractually passed through to customers and higher underlying
sales. The source of cash within payables and accrued liabilities primarily resulted from higher natural gas costs
and customer advances for sale of equipment projects. The use of cash within other working capital primarily relates
to contract fulfilment costs and the timing of income tax payments.

For the fiscal year ended 30 September 2021, cash provided by operating activities was $3,335.2. Other
adjustments of $116.7 included pension plan contributions of $44.6 and pension income of $38.9 that did not have a
cash impact. The working capital accounts were a source of cash of $16.7, primarily driven by a $187.9 source of
cash from payables and accrued liabilities, partially offset by a $130.5 use of cash from trade receivables, less
allowances. The source of cash within payables and accrued liabilities primarily resulted from higher natural gas
costs, which also drove the use of cash within trade receivables as we contractuaily passed through these higher
costs to customers.
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Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 2021
Additions to plant and equipment, including long-term deposits ($2,926.5) (52,464.2)
Acquisitions, less cash acquired (65.1} (10.5)
Investment in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates (1,658.4} (76.0)
Proceeds from sale of assets and investments 46.2 375
Purchases of investments (1,637.8) (2,100.7)
Proceeds from investments 23774 18752
Other investing activities 7.0 5.8
Cash Used for Investing Activities ($3,857.2) (52,732.9)

For the fiscal year ended 30 September 2022, cash used for investing activities was $3,857.2. Capital expenditures
primarily included $2,926.5 for additions to plant and equipment, including long-term deposits and $1,658.4 for
investment in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates. Refer to the Capital Expenditures section below for further
detail. Proceeds from investments of $2,377.4 resulted from maturities of time deposits and treasury securities with
terms greater than three months but less than one year and exceeded purchases of investments of $1,637.8.

For the fiscal year ended 30 September 2021, cash used for investing activities was $2,732.9. Capital expenditures
for plant and equipment, including long-term deposits, were $2,464.2. Purchases of investments with terms greater
than three months but less than one year of $2,100.7 exceeded proceeds from investments of $1,875.2, which
resulted from maturities of time depesits and treasury securities.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures is a non-GAAP financial measure that we define as cash flows for additions to plant and
equipmcent, including long-term deposits, acquisitions (less cash acquired), and investment in and advances to
unconsolidated affiliates. The components of our capital expenditures are detailed in the table below. We also
present a reconciliation of our capital expenditures to cash used for investing activities on page 40.

Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 2021
Additions to plant and equipment, including long-term deposits $2,926.5 $2,464 2
Acquisitions, less cash acquired 65.1 10.5
Investment in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates’ 1,658.4 76.0
Capital Expenditures $4,650.0 $2,550.7

*Nncludes contributions from nancontralling partners in consolidated subsidiaries as discussed below.

Capital expenditures in fiscal year 2022 totaled $4,650.0 compared to $2,550.7 in fiscal year 2021. The increase of
$2.099.3 was primarily driven by our initial investment of $1.6 billion in the new JIGPC joint venture, which included
approximately $130 from a non-controlling partner in one of our subsidiaries. We expect to make an additional
investment of approximately $1 billion, which will alsc include a contribution from our non-controlling pariner, for the
second phase of the project, which we expect to occur in the second quarter of fiscal year 2023, Refer to Note 7,
Equity Affiliates, to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Outlook for investing Activities
We expect capital expenditures for fiscal year 2023 to be approximately $5 to $5.5 billion.

It is not possible, without unreasonable efforts, to reconcile our forecasted capital expenditures to future cash used
for investing activities because we are unable to identify the timing or occurrence of our future investment activity,
which is driven by our assessment of competing opportunities at the time we enter into transactions. These
decisions, either individually or in the aggregate, could have a significant effect on our cash used for investing
activities.
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We anticipate capital expenditures to be funded principally with our current cash balance, cash generated from
continuing operations, and financing activities as needed. In addition, we intend to continue to evaluate (1)
investments in large industrial gas projects driven by demand for more energy, cleaner energy, and emerging
market growth; {2} purchases of existing industrial gas facilities from our customers 10 create long-term contracts
under which we own and operate the plant and sell industrial gases to the customer based on a fixed fee; and (3)
acquisitions of small- and medium-sized industrial gas companies or assets from other industrial gas companies.

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Fiscal Year Ended 30 September 2022 2021
Long-term debt proceads $766.2 $178.9
Payments on long-term debt (400.0) (462.9)
Net increase in commercial paper and short-term borrowings 179 1.0
Dividends paid to shareholders (1,383.3) (1,256.7)
Proceeds from stock option exercises 19.3 10.6
Investments by noncentrolling interests 21.0 136.6
Cther financing activities (41.7) (28.4)
Cash Used for Financing Activities ($1,000.6) ($1,420.9)

in fiscal year 2022, cash used for financing activities was $1,000.6. The use of cash was primarily driven by
dividend payments to shareholders of $1,383.3 and paymenits on long-term debt of $400.0 for the repayment of a
3.0% Senior Note at maturity. These uses of cash were partially offset by long-term debt proceeds of $766.2.

In fiscat year 2021, cash used for financing activities was $1,420.9 and primarily included dividend payments to
shareholders of $1,256.7 and payments on long-term debt of $462.9, partially offset by long-term debt proceeds of
$178.9 and investments by noncontrolling interests of $136.6. The payments on long-term debt included the
repayment of a 0.375% €350.0 million Eurobond ($428) in June 2021.

Einancing and Capital Structure

Capital needs in fiscal year 2022 were satisfied with our cash balance and cash from operations. Total debt
increased from $7,637.2 as of 30 September 2021 to $7,644.8 as of 30 September 2022. Total debt includes related
party debt of $781.0 and $358.4 as of 30 September 2022 and 30 September 2021, respectively.

Various debt agreements to which we are a party include financial covenants and other restrictions, including
restrictions pertaining to the ability to create property liens and enter into certain sale and leaseback transactions.
As of 30 September 2022, we are in compliance with all of the financial and other covenants under our debt

agreements.

Credit Facilities

On 31 March 2021, we entered into a five-year $2,500 revolving credit agreement maturing 31 March 2026 with a
syndicate of banks (the "2021 Credit Agreement”}, under which senior unsecured debt is available to us and certain
of our subsidiaries. On 31 March 2022, we amended the 2021 Credit Agreement to exercise our option to increase
the maximum borrowing capacity to $2,750 and transiticn the benchmark rate from the London Inter-Bank Offered
Rate {"LIBOR") lo the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR"). All other terms remain unchanged from the

original agreement.

The only financial covenant in the 2021 Credit Agreement is a maximum ratio of total debt to total capitalization
{equal to total debt plus total equity) not to exceed 70%. Total debt as of 30 September 2022 and 30 September
2021, expressed as a percentage of total capitalization, was 35.8% and 35.2%, respectively. No borrowings were
outstanding under the 2021 Credit Agreement as of 30 September 2022.

We also have credit facilities available to certain of our foreign subsidiaries totaling $749.0, of which $457.5 was
borrowed and outstanding as of 30 September 2022. The amount borrowed and outstanding as of 30 September

2021 was $176.2.
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Equity Securities

On 15 September 2011, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $1,000 of our outstanding
common stock. We did not purchase any of our outstanding shares in fiscal years 2022 or 2021. As of 30
September 2022, $485.3 in share repurchase autherization remained.

Dividends

The Board of Directors determines whether to declare cash dividends on our commen stock and the timing and
amount based on financial condition and other factors it deems relevant. Dividends are paid quarterly, usually during
the sixth week after the close of the fiscal quarter. In fiscal year 2022, the Board of Directors increased the quarterty
dividend on our common stock to $1.62 per share, representing an 8% increase, or $0.12 per share, from the
previous dividend of $1.50 per share. This is lhe 40" consecutive year that we have increased our quarterly
dividend. We expect to continue to pay cash dividends in the future at comparable or increased levels.

On 22 November 2022, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of $1.62 per share that is payable on
13 February 2023 to shareholders of record at the close of business on 3 January 2023.

Discontinued Operations

in fiscal year 2022, cash provided by operating activities of discontinued operations of $59.6 resulted from cash
received as part of a state tax refund related to the sale of our former Performance Materials Division in fiscal year
2017.

In fiscal year 2021, cash provided by operating activities of discontinued operations of $6.7 resulted from cash
received as part of a state tax setflement related to the sale of our former Performance Materials Division in fiscal
year 2017.

PENSION BENEFITS

We and certain of our subsidiaries sponsor defined benefit pension plans and defined contribution plans that cover
a substantial portion of our worldwide employees. The principal defined benefit pension plans are the U.S. salaried
pension plan and the U.K. pension plan. These plans were closed to new participants in 2005, after which defined
contribution plans were offered to new employees. The shift to defined contribution plans is expected to continue to
reduce volatility of both plan expense and contributions. Refer to Note 15, Refirement Benefits, 1o the consolidated
financial statements for additional disclosures on our postretirement benefits.

Net Periodic Benefit

The table below summarizes the components of net pericdic benefit for our U.S. and internaticnal defined benefit
pension plans for the fiscal years ended 30 September:

2022 2021
Service cost $39.8 $44.7
Non-seérvice related benefits (44.7) (83.0)
Other 1.3 1.0
Net periodic benefit {$3.6) ($37.3)

Net periodic benefit of $3.6 decreased from $37.3 in the prior year, primarily due to lower non-service related
benefils. We increased the percentage of fixed income investments within the plan asset portfolios, which resulted
in lower expected returns on plan assets for both the U.S. salaried and the U.K. pension plans. Additionally, a higher
discount rate resulted in higher interest costs. These two reductions in non-service related benefits were only
partially offset by lower actuarial loss amortization. Qur non-service related benefits are reflected within "Other non-
operating income (expense), net" on our consolidated income statements.

Service costs result from benefits earned by active employees and are reflected as cperating expenses primarily
within "Cost of sales” and "Selling and administrative” on our consolidated income statements. The amount of
service costs capitalized in fiscal years 2022 and 2021 was not material.

Air Products | 2022 Annual Report
44



The table below summarizes the assumptions used in the calculation of net periodic benefit for the fiscal years
ended 30 September:

2022 2021
Weighted average discount rate - Service cost 2.4% 2.3%
Weighted average discount rate — Interest cost 2.0% 1.8%
Weighted average expected rate of return on plan assets 51% 6.0%
Weighted average expected rate of compensation increase 3.4% 3.4%

2023 Outlook

In fiscal year 2023, we expect to recognize pension expense of approximately $110 to $120 primarily driven by non-
service related costs, including higher interest cost and lower estimated expected returns on plan assets due to a
smaller beginning balance of plan assets.

In fiscal year 2022, we recognized net actuarial losses of $143.5 in other comprehensive income. Actuartal gains
and losses are amortized intc pension expense over prospective periods to the extent they are not offset by future
gains or lbsses. Future changes in the discount rate and actual returns on plan assets could impact the actuarial
gain or loss and resulting amortization in years beyond fiscal year 2023.

Effective beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2023, management will review and disclose cur adjusted results
excluding the impact of non-service related costs as they are not indicative of the plans’ future contribution needs
due to the funded status of the plans. Non-service related costs are driven by factors that are unrelated to our
operations, such as recent changes to the allocation of our pension plan assets associated with de-risking as well
as volatility in equity and debt markets.

Pension Funding

Funded Status

The projected benefit obligation represents the actuarial present value of benefits attributable to employee service
rendered to date, including the effects of estimated future salary increases. The plan funded status is calculated as
the difference between the projected benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at the end of the pericd.

The table below summarizes the project benefit obligation, the fair value of plan assets, and the funded status for
our U.S. and internaticnal plans as of 30 September:

2022 2021
Projected henefit obligation $3,588.3 $5,304.9
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 3,526.0 5,248.7
Plan funded status ($62.3) {$56.2)

The net unfunded liability of $62.3 as of 30 September 2022 increased $6.1 from $56.2 as of 30 September 2021,
primarily due to unfavorable asset experience, partially offset by a lower liability due to increased discount rates.

Company Contributions

Pension funding includes both contributions to funded plans and benefit payments for unfunded plans, which are
primarily non-qualified plans. With respect to funded plans, our funding policy is that contributicns, combined with
appreciation and earnings, will be sufficient to pay benefits without creating unnecessary surpluses.

In addition, we make contributions to satisfy all legal funding requirements while managing our capacity to benefit
from tax deductions attributable to plan contributions. With the assistance of third-party actuaries, we analyze the
liabilities and demographics of each plan, which help guide the level of cantributions. During 2022 and 2021, our
cash contributions to funded plans and benefit payments for unfunded plans were $44.7 and 3$44.6, respectively.

Funding Outlock

For fiscal year 2023, cash contributions to defined benefit plans are estimated to be $25 to $35. The estimate is
based on expected contributions to certain international plans and anticipated benefit payments for unfunded plans,
which are dependent upon the timing of retirements. Actual future contributions will depend on future funding
legislation, discount rates, investment performance, plan design, and various other factors.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Refer to Note 1, Basis of Presentation and Major Accounting Policies, and Note 2, New Accounting Guidance, tc the
consolidated financial statements for a description of cur major accounting policies and information concerning
implementation and impact ol new accounting guidance.

The accounting policies discussed below are those policies that we consider to be the most critical to understanding
our financial statements because they require management's most difficult, subjective, or complex judgments, often
as the result of the need to make estimates about the effects of matters that are inherently uncertain. These
estimates reflect our best judgment about current and/or future economic and market conditions and their effect
based on information available as of the date of our consolidated financial statements. If conditions change, actual
results may differ materially from these estimates. Our management has reviewed these critical accounting policies
and estimates and related disclosures with the Audit and Finance Committee of our Board of Directors.

Depreciable Lives of Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment, net at 30 September 2022 totaled $14,160.5, and depreciation expense totaled $1,302.7
during fiscal year 2022. Plant and equipment is recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method,
which deducts equal amounts of the cost of each asset from earnings every year over its estimated economic useful
life.

Economic useful life is the duration of time an asset is expected to be productively employed by us, which may be
less than its physical life. Assumptions on the following factors, among others, affect the determination of estimated
economic useful life; wear and tear, obsolescence, technical standards, contract life, market demand, competitive
position, raw material availability, and geographic location.

The estimated economic useful life of an asset is monitored to determine its appropriateness, especially when
business circumstances change. For example, changes in technology, changes in the estimated future demand for
products, excessive wear and tear, or unanticipated government actions may result in a shorter estimated useful life
than originally anticipated. In these cases, we would depreciate the remaining net book value over the new
estimated remaining life, thereby increasing depreciation expense per year on a prospective basis. Likewise, if the
estimated useful life is increased, the adjustment to the useful life decreases depreciation expense per year on a
prospective basis.

Our regional segments have numerous long-term customer supply contracts for which we construct an on-site plant
adjacent to or near the customer’s facility. These contracts typically have initial contract terms of 10 to 20 years.
Depreciable lives of the production assets related to long-term supply contracts are generally matched to the
contract lives. Extensions to the contract term of supply frequently occur prior to the expiration of the initial term. As
contract terms are extended, the depreciable life of the associated production assets is adjusted to match the new
contract term, as long as it does not exceed the remaining physical life of the asset.

Our regional segments also have contracts for liquid or gaseous bulk supply and, for smaller customers, packaged
gases. The depreciable lives of production facilities associated with these contracts are generally 15 years. These
depreciable lives have been determined based on historical experience combined with judgment on future
assumptions such as technological advances, potential obsolescence, competitors’ actions, etc.

In addition, we may purchase assets through transactions accounted for as either an asset acquisition or a business
combipation. Depreciable lives are assigned to acquired assets based on the age and condition of the assets, the
remaining duration of long-term supply contracts served by the assets, and our historical experience with similar
assets. Management monitors its assumptions and may potentially need to adjust depreciable life as circumstances
change.

Impairment of Assets

There were no triggering events in fiscal year 2022 that would require impairment testing for any of our asset
groups, reporting units that contain goodwill, or indefinite-lived intangibles assets. We completed our annual
impairment tests for goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets and concluded there were no indications of
impairment.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022, we recorded a noncash charge of $14.8 for the other-than-temperary
impairment of two small equity method investments in our Asia segment.

Refer to the “Impairment of Assels” subsections below for additional detail.

Air Products | 2022 Annual Report
46



Impairment of Assets - Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment meeting the held for sale criteria are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less
cost to sell. Plant and equipment to be disposed of other than by sale may be reviewed for impairment upon the
occurrence of certain triggering events, such as unexpected contract terminations or uncxpected foreign
government-imposed restrictions or expropriations. Plant and equipment held for use is grouped for impairment
testing at the lowest leve! for which there is identifiable cash flows. Impairment testing of the asset group occurs
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be
recoverable. Such circumstances may include:

* asignificant decrease in the market value of a long-lived asset grouping,

* a significant adverse change in the manner in which the asset grouping is being used or in its physical
condition;

* an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originaily expected for the acquisition or
construction of the long-lived asset;

* areduction in revenues that is other than temporary;
*  a history of operating or cash flow losses associated with the use of the asset grouping; or
= changes in the expected useful life of the long-lived assets.

If such circumstances are determined to exist, an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows produced by that asset
group is compared to the carrying value to determine whether impairment exists. If an asset group is determined to
be impaired, the loss is measured based on the difference between the asset group’s fair value and its carrying
value. An estimate of the asset group’s fair value is based on the discounted value of its estimated cash flows.

The assumptions underlying the undiscounted future cash flow projections require significant management
judgment. Factors that management must estimate include industry and market conditions, sales volume and
prices, costs to produce, inflation, etc. The assumptions underlying the cash flow projections represent
management's best estimates at the time of the impairmenl review and could include probability weighting of cash
flow projections associated with multiple potential future scenarios. Changes in key assumptions or actual
conditions that differ from estimates could result in an impairment charge. We use reasonable and supportable
assumptions when performing impairment reviews and cannot predict the occurrence of future events and
circumstances that could result in impairment charges.

In fiscal year 2022, there was no need to test for impairment on any of our asset groupings as no events or changes
in circumstances indicated that the carrying amount of our asset groupings may not be recoverable.

Impairment of Assets - Goodwill

The acquisition method of accounting for business combinations requires us to make use of estimates and
judgments to allocate the purchase price paid for acquisitions to the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable
intangible assets. Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate purchase price (plus the fair value of any
nencontroiling interest and previously held equity interest in the acquiree) over the fair value of identifiable net
assets of an acquired entity. Goodwill was $823.0 as of 30 September 2022. Disclosures related to goodwill are
included in Note 8, Goodwill, to the consolidated financial statements.

We review goodwill for impairment annually in the fourth quarter of the fiscal year and whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of goodwill might not be recoverable. The tests are done at the
reporting unit level, which is defined as being equal to or one level below the operating segment for which discrete
financial information is available and whose operating results are reviewed by segment managers regularly. We
have five reportable business segments, seven operating segments and 11 reporting units, eight of which include a
goecdwill balance. Refer to Note 23, Business Segment and Geographic Information, for additional information.
Reporting units are primarily based on products and subregions within each reportable segment. The majority of our
goodwill is assigned to reporting units within our regional industrial gases segments.

As part of the goodwill impairment testing, we have the optien to first assess qualitative factors to determine
whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value. However, we
choose to bypass the qualitative assessment and conduct quantitative testing to determine if the carrying value of
the reporting unit exceeds its fair value. An impairment loss will be recognized for the amount by which the carrying
value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that
reporting unit.
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To determine the fair value of a reporting unit, we initially use an income approach valuation model, representing the
present value of estimated future cash flows. Our valuation model uses a discrete growth period and an estimated
exit trading multiple. The income appreach is an appropriate valuation method due to our capital-intensive nature,
the long-term contractual nature of our business, and the relatively consistent cash flows generated by our reporting
units. The principal assumptions utihized in our income approach valuation model include revenue growth rates,
operating profit and/or adjusted EBITDA margins, discount rate, and exit multiple. Projected revenue growth rates
and operating profit and/or adjusted EBITDA assumptions are consistent with those utilized in our operating plan
and/or revised forecasts and long-term financial planning process. The discount rate assumption is calculated
based on an estimated market-participant risk-adjusted weighted-average cost of capital, which includes factors
such as the risk-free rate of return, cost of debt, and expected equity premiums. The exit muliiple is determined from
comparablc industry Liansaclions d1d where appropriate, retlects expected long-term growth rates.

If our initial review under the income approach indicates there may be impairment, we incorporate results under the
market approach to further evaluate the existence of impairment. When the market approach is utilized, fair value is
estimated based on market multiples of revenue and earnings derived from comparable publicly-traded industrial
gases companies and/or regiona! manufacturing companies engaged in the same or similar lines of business as the
reporting unit, adjusted to reflect differences in size and growth prospects. When both the income and market
approach are utilized, we review relevant facts and circumstances and make a qualitative assessment to determine
the proper weighting. Management judgment is required in the determination of each assumption utilized in the
valuation model, and actual results could differ from the estimates.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2022, we conducted our annual goodwill impairment test, noting no
indications of impairment. The fair value of all of our reporting units substantially exceeded their carrying value.

Future events that could have a negative impact on the level of excess fair value over carrying value of the reporting
units include, but are not limited to: long-term economic weakness, decline in market share, pricing pressures,
inability to successfully implement cost improvement measures, increases to our cost of capital, changes in the
strategy of the reporting unit, and changes to the structure of our business as a result of future reorganizations or
divestitures of assets or businesses. Negative changes in one or more of these factors, among others, could result
in impairment charges.

Impairment of Assets — Intangible Assets

Intangible assets, net with determinable lives at 30 September 2022 totaled $314.4 and consisted primarily of
customer relationships, purchased patents and technology, and land use rights. These intangible assets are tested
for impairment as part of the long-lived asset grouping impairment tests. Impairment testing of the asset group
occurs whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be
recoverable. See the impairment discussion above under "Impairment of Assets - Plant and Equipment” for a
description of how impairment losses are determined.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets at 30 September 2022 totaled $33.1 and consisted of trade names and trademarks.
Indefinite-lived intangibles are subject to impairment testing at least annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that potential impairment exists. The impairment test for indefinite-lived

intangible assets involves calculating the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible assets and comparing the fair
value to their carrying value. If the fair value is less than the carrying value, the difference is recorded as an
impairment loss. To determine fair value, we utilize the royalty savings method, a form of the income approach. This
method values an intangible asset by estimating the royalties avoided through ownership of the asset.

Disclosures related to intangible assets other than goodwill are included in Note 10, Intangible Assets, to the
consolidated financial statements.

In the fourth quarter of 2022, we conducted our annual impairment test of indefinite-lived intangtbles which resulted
in no impairment.

Impairment of Assets — Equity Method Investments

Investments in and advances to equity affiliates totaled $3,353.8 at 30 September 2022. The majority of our
investments are ventures with other industrial gas companies. Summarized financial informaticn of our equity
affiliates is included in Note 7, Equity Affiliates, to the consolidated financial statements, W